Public Document Pack

Meeting of:
Date:
Time:
Venue:

Cabinet
Tuesday, 31st August, 2021
6.00 pm.

Item
No.
1

AGENDA

Page No

Apologies
To receive any apologies for absence.

2

Minutes

4 - 11

To consider the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 27 July
2021.
3

Declarations of Interest
Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.

4

Urgent Items of Business
To determine whether there are any additional items of business
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

5

Items for Exclusion of Public and Press
To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to
be excluded from the meeting.

6

Finance Update Report Qtr 1 2021/22
To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and
Corporate / Chief Finance Officer.

12 - 44

7

Review of Charges for Wheeled Bins

45 - 48

To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Environment and
Facilities / Director of Neighbourhoods.
8

Lift Compliance Policy

49 - 65

To consider the report of the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services /
Interim Director of Childrens Services.
9

Castleton BeeNetwork (Phase 2) Development Cost

66 - 68

To consider the report Cabinet Member for Highways and Housing /
Director of Neighbourhoods.
10

Active Travel Fund

69 - 72

To consider the report of Cabinet Member for Climate Change and
Sustainability / Director of Neighbourhoods.
11

Hopwood Hall - Historic England Repair Grant for Heritage at Risk

73 - 76

To consider a report of the Error! Unknown document property
name. / Director of Economy.
12

Report of the Local Government Social Care Ombudsman and the
Council's response to the findings
To consider the report of the Monitoring Officer / Director of Childrens
Services.

13

Exclusion of Press and Public
To consider that the press and public be excluded from the remaining
part of the meeting pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may involve the
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the provisions of
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public
interest would not be served in publishing the information.

77 - 85

14

Cutgate Precinct Car Park

86 - 94

To consider the report of the Error! Unknown document property
name. / Director of Economy.

Cabinet Members
Councillor Daalat Ali
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed
Councillor Sara Rowbotham
Councillor Rachel Massey
Councillor Liam O'Rourke

Councillor Neil Emmott
Councillor John Blundell
Councillor Carol Wardle
Councillor Daniel Meredith
Councillor Susan Smith

For more information about this meeting, please contact
Michael Garraway/Alison James - Committee and Constitutional Services
Telephone: 01706 924711/924715
E-mail: Michael.garraway2@rochdale.gov.uk /alison.james@rochdale.gov.uk

Agenda Item 2
CABINET
MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 27 July 2021
PRESENT: Councillor Neil Emmott (in the Chair); Councillors Daalat Ali,
Iftikhar Ahmed, Blundell, Rowbotham, Wardle, Massey, Meredith, O'Rourke
and Susan Smith
OFFICERS: S. Rumbelow (Chief Executive), M. Widdup (Director of
Neighbourhoods); C. Richardson (Director of Commissioning), J. Hassel
(Interim Director of Children’s), A. Ibrahim (Monitoring Officer), J. Murphy
(Chief Finance Officer), M. Robinson (Assistant Director – Economy), T.
Harrison (Assistant Director – Commissioning), P. Moore (Head of Planning),
R. Barker (Head of Workforce and OD), A. Harrison (Human Resources) and
M. Garraway (Committee and Constitutional Services Manager).
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: G. Davies (Rochdale Development Agency)
15

MINUTES
RESOLVED
That the minutes of Cabinet held on the 29 June 2021 be approved as a
correct record.

16

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.

17

APPOINTMENT OF THE PROPERTY GROWTH FUND SUB-COMMITTEE
RESOLVED
That the Leader, Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate, Cabinet
Member for Climate Change and Sustainability be appointed to the Property
Growth Fund Sub-Committee for the Municipal year 2021/22, with the
remaining Cabinet Members being appointed as substitutes.

18

BUDGET 2022/23 TO 2024/25 - GUIDELINES, TIMETABLE AND BUDGET
UPDATE
Consideration was given to a report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and
Corporate / Chief Finance Officer seeking approval for the proposed budget
timeline 2022/23 to 2024/25 including assumptions and principals.
Alternative considered
The Council is legally obliged to set a balanced budget. The budget setting
process is complex and must be undertaken in a planned way. It is equally
important that assumptions used in the preparation of the budget are agreed,
reasonable and consistently applied by all services.
RESOLVED
1. That the proposed budget timetable detailed at Appendix 1 to the
submitted report, be approved.

Page 4

2. That the revenue assumptions, detailed in Appendix 2, be approved to be
incorporated into the budget setting process.
3. That the revenue budget principles detailed in Appendix 3 to the submitted
report be approved.
4. The capital budget principles detailed in Appendix 4 to the submitted report
be approved.
5. That the Revenue Budget be noted.
Reason for resolution
Under the Budget & Policy Framework, Cabinet is required to approve the
proposed guidelines and timetable for setting the 2022/23 Budget and
Provisional Budgets for 2023/24 and 2024/25 by September.
19

GM CLEAN AIR FINAL PLAN
Consideration was given to a report of the Cabinet Member for Climate
Change and Sustainability / Director of Neighbourhoods setting out the
proposed Greater Manchester Final Clean Air Plan. The proposed final GM
Clean Air Plan set out final proposals for:
 the boundary,
 hours of operation,
 management of the scheme,
 discounts,
 exemptions and daily charges of a Clean Air Zone;
 the amount of supporting funds for each vehicle type;
 other supporting measures.
It was stated that the proposed plan had been submitted following a review of
the information gathered through the GM CAP consultation and wider data,
including evidence and modelling work.
Alternatives considered
All 10 Greater Manchester local authorities are subject to a direction from
Government to implement a category C Clean Air Charging Zone. The GM
Clean Air Plan achieves compliance with the direction and no alternatives
have been considered.
RESOLVED
1. That the progress of the Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan be noted.
2. That the progress in the distribution of Bus Retrofit funding be noted.
3. That it be noted the Ministers’ agreement to include the sections of the
A628/A57 in Tameside which form part of the Strategic Road Network
within the Greater Manchester’s Clean Air Zone (CAZ) and their request
for Tameside MBC, TfGM and Highways England to establish the most
appropriate solution for the charging mechanism to be applied on this
section of the Strategic Road Network (SRN);
4. That approval be given to the GM Clean Air Plan Policy, at Appendix 1
noting that the policy outlines the boundary, discounts, exemptions, daily
charges of the Clean Air Zone as well as the financial support packages
offered towards upgrading to a compliant vehicle, including the eligibility
criteria to be applied.

Page 5

5. That the Equalities Impact Assessment, as set out at Appendix 2 be
approved.
6. That the AECOM Consultation Report, as set out at Appendix 3 be
approved.
7. That the proposed Response to the Consultation at Appendix 4 which has
been prepared by TfGM on behalf of the ten GM local authorities be
approved.
8. That the Impacts of COVID-19 Report, as set out at Appendix 5 be
approved.
9. That the Modelling report of the final CAP package, as set out at Appendix
6, and in particular that the modelling outputs of the final plan scheme
show the achievement of compliance with the legal limits for Nitrogen
Dioxide in the shortest possible time and by 2024 at the latest as required
by the Ministerial Direction be approved.
10. That the economic implications of the CAP Report, as set out at Appendix
7 be approved.
11. That it be noted the update on the GM Minimum Licensing Standards, set
out in section 3.1, and in particular that licensing conditions will not be
used to support delivery of the GM Clean Air Plan;
12. That approval be given to a 6-week public consultation on the inclusion of
motorhomes classified as MSP1 in the GM Clean Air Zone and on the
inclusion of the A575 and A580 at Worsley commencing on 1 September
2021; including delegated authority to the Director of Neighbourhoods in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Climate Change and
Sustainability to approve the consultation materials.
13. That it be noted the GM Clean Air Charging Authorities Committee has the
authority to make the Charging Scheme Order which establishes the GM
Charging Scheme in line with the agreed GM Clean Air Plan Policy;
14. That it be noted the GM Charging Authorities Committee has the authority
to vary the Charging Scheme Order if this is established as the most
appropriate charging mechanism to be applied on sections of the
A628/A57 part of the Strategic Road Network (SRN) in Tameside.
15. That it be noted that the Air Quality Administration Committee has the
authority to agree the final form of the Operational Agreement for the
Central Clean Air Service, and to authorise the making of the Agreement,
on behalf of the ten GM local authorities.
16. That it be noted that the Air Quality Administration Committee has the
authority to:
a. Establish and distribute the funds set out in the agreed GM Clean
Air Plan policy.
b. Approve the assessment mechanism agreed with JAQU to ensure
that Clean Air Funds can be adapted if necessary.
c. Keep the use of the funds under review and to determine any
changes in the amounts allocated to each and their use.
d. Monitor and evaluate the joint local charging scheme.
17. That approval be given to the reallocation of funding from the Try Before
You Buy scheme to provide additional electric vehicle charging points
dedicated for use by taxis;
18. That delegated authority be given to the GM Charging Authorities
Committee to determine the outcome of the consultation on both the

Page 6

inclusion of motorhomes classified as MSP1 within the scope of Clean Air
Zone charges and on the inclusion in the GM Clean Air Zone of the A575
and A580 at Worsley following the conclusion of that consultation.
19. That approval be given to the Clean Air Zone ANPR and signage
locations, as set out at Appendix 10.
20. That delegated authority be given to the Director of Neighbourhoods in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Climate Change and
Sustainability to approve the submission of the Interim Full Business Case
if required; and that the Director of Neighbourhoods in consultation with
the Portfolio Holder for Climate Change and Sustainability, be delegated
authority to approve the submission of the Full Business Case (FBC) to the
Government's Joint Air Quality Unit to support the GM Clean Air Plan and
any supplementary information to that Unit .
Reason for resolution
The Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan has been developed, in-line with the
2040 Transport Strategy principles and vision. It provides a long-term vision
for transport provision in Greater Manchester, along with specific principles
and targets for achieving that vision, to ensure that available resources are
used to contribute to achieving the region’s strategic transport objectives.
20

PLACES FOR EVERYONE JOINT DEVELOPMENT PLAN DOCUMENT
Consideration was given to a report of the Cabinet Member for Economy and
Communications / Director of Economy which sought approval for publication
and a period of consultation for the Places for Everyone Joint Development
document.
Specifically the Cabinet Member for Economy and
Communications sought approval to undertake a Regulation 19 consultation
on the plan and, recommendation to Council that following that consultation,
approval to submit the plan to the Secretary of State for independent
examination.
Alternatives considered
Preparing an up to date local plan would make addressing strategic cross
boundary issues more difficult and it would exclude Rochdale from the joint
plan for strategic growth.
RESOLVED
1. That the Places for Everyone: Publication Draft 2021, including strategic
site allocations and Green Belt boundary amendments, and reference to
the potential use of compulsory purchase powers to assist with site
assembly, and the supporting background documents, be approved for
publication pursuant to Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 for an 8 week period for
representations to begin not earlier than 9 August 2021
2. That delegated authority be given to the Director of Economy, in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Economy and Communications,
to approve the relevant Statement of Common Ground(s) required
pursuant to the National Planning Policy Framework 2019.
3. That delegated authority be given to the Director of Economy, in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Economy and Communications,

Page 7

to approve necessary changes to the Council’s Statement of Community
Involvement (SCI) and Local Development Scheme (LDS) to reference the
Places for Everyone 2021 Joint Development Plan Document.
Reason for resolution
To allow for strategic planning across the region enabling certainty in
development, economic growth, guide development, investment and
infrastructure.
21

GREATER MANCHESTER ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING STRATEGY
Consideration was given to a report of the Cabinet Member for Cabinet
Member for Climate Change and Sustainability/ Director of which sought
approval for Rochdale BC to join the Greater Manchester Electric Vehicle
Charging Strategy.
Alternatives considered
No alternatives were considered.
RESOLVED
That the Greater Manchester Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy is approved
for adoption.
Reason for resolution
The strategy is a sub-strategy of the already approved Greater Manchester
Transport Strategy 2040. Access to electric vehicle Charging Infrastructure is
a part of decarbonising transport and falls in line with the national
Government’s ending the sale of petrol and diesel cars and vans by 2030.

22

ROCHDALE RIVERSIDE RETAIL & LEISURE UPDATE
Consideration was given to a report of the Cabinet Member for Economy and
Communications / Director of Economy updating Members on the Rochdale
Riverside retail & leisure scheme (Rochdale Riverside) following its opening in
April 2020, with a specific focus on the regeneration benefits and outcomes of
the scheme.
Alternatives considered
No alternatives were considered.
RESOLVED
1. That it be noted the Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer, Director of
Economy and the Leader of the Council, Portfolio Holders for Finance and
Corporate, and Economy & Communications; will undertake a review of
accounting options for additional business rates income in relation to major
regeneration schemes in the borough.
Reason for resolution
Updating Cabinet Members on the regeneration benefits resulting from the
opening of the Rochdale Riverside retail & leisure scheme is a requirement of
previous resolutions of Cabinet.

Page 8

23

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
RESOLVED
That the Press and Public be excluded from the meeting during consideration of
the following five items of business, in accordance with the provisions of Section
100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.
Reason for the resolution
Should the press and public remain during debate on these three items there may
be a disclosure of information that is deemed to be exempt under Parts 1 and 4 of
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972

24

TERM TIME ONLY PAY CALCULATION AND STATUTORY ANNUAL
LEAVE
Consideration was given to a report of the Cabinet Member for Finance and
Corporate / Director of Resources relating to the calculation of pay for Term
Time Only employees and statutory annual leave.
Alternatives considered
Alternatives considered as detailed within the submitted report.
RESOLVED
1. That the Local Government Association model of pay for Term Time Only
employees by adopted.
2. That payment be made available for a top-up for statutory annual leave
where applicable, as detailed within the submitted report.
3. That Back-pay be payable to current employees only, backdated to 18th
February 2019.
Reason for resolution
To enable the Council to ensure that it meets the requirements of the Green
Book and its legal obligations under the Working Time Regulations as clarified
by current case law.

25

MICHAEL FARADAY AVENUE, KINGSWAY BUSINESS PARK –
APPOINTMENT OF CONTRACTOR TO CONSTRUCT A SECTION OF
ROAD
Consideration was given to a report of the Cabinet Member for Economy and
Communications / Director of Economy which
Alternatives considered
To not proceed with the scheme.
RESOLVED
1. That approval be given to the Framework Procurement route for the
appointment of a main contractor to undertake the construction of the
missing section of Michael Faraday Avenue at Kingsway Business Park.
2. That delegated authority be given to Director of Economy, in consultation
with the Director of Resources and the Portfolio Holder for Economy and
Communications, to enter into a contract for the construction of the
Michael Faraday road link with Eric Wright Construction Ltd subject to

Page 9

there being no outstanding legal or procurement matters which prevent
this taking place.
3. That approval be given to the principle of using any residual grant funding
to construct an additional access road into a development plot within
Kingsway Business Park.
4. That delegated authority be given to the Director of Economy, in
consultation with the Director of Resources and the Portfolio Holder for
Economy and Communications, to enter into a contract for the construction
of the additional access road with Eric Wright Construction Ltd, subject to
there being no outstanding matters which prevent this taking place.
Reason for resolution
To enable delivery of the missing section of Michael Faraday Avenue at
Kingsway Business Park within the grant funding deadline set by the external
funder.
26

YOUR TRUST REVIEW PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT JULY 2021 V2.0,
08/07/2021 HEALTH, SCHOOLS AND CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE
Consideration was given to a report of the Cabinet Member for Health /
Assistant Director of Commissioning that sought approvals for changes to the
Your Trust (formerly Link4Life) partnership agreement.
Alternatives considered
To not approve the proposed changes.
RESOLVED
1. That approval be given to the proposed changes to the partnership
agreement and to bring the specification, outcomes framework and lease
arrangement in line with that of similar size and scale commissions.
2. That approval be given to the recommended changes to the
responsibility/lifecycle costs matrix with Your Trust taking responsibility for
the planning and timetabling of the lifecycle replacements.
3. That approval be given to a revised model for the calculation of the
management fee where annual changes are based on the Consumer Price
Index across the fee.
4. That approval be given to the recommendation to split the management
fee and develop a funding model principle to develop a management fee
model that is clearly allocated between the functions for Sport and Leisure,
Culture and Hollingworth Lake and Country Park to clarity in respect of the
costs of subsiding each service.
5. That approval be given to an extension of the current contract term (31st
March 2027) by a further 5 years to 31st March 2032.
6. That the Assistant Director of Resources (Legal, Governance & Workforce)
be authorised to undertake related legal work in connection with the
proposed changes to the partnership agreement.
7. That it be noted the £1.4m earmarked to support Your Trust during its
recovery from the Covid pandemic is likely to be utilised during 2021/22
and 2022/23.

Page 10

Reason for resolution
In order that Your Trust remain in a strong position to draw down on grant
funding for leisure and culture recovery.

Page 11

Agenda Item 6
Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting

31st August 2021

Portfolio

Cabinet Member for Finance and
Corporate and Corporate

Report Author

Samantha Smith

Public/Private Document

Public

Finance Update Report Quarter 1 2021/22
Executive Summary

1.

To inform Cabinet and the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee of the
Council’s forecast 2021/22 financial position as at the end of June 2021.

1.1

The Finance Update report contains details of the following:


The forecast Revenue outturn position, which is a break even position. The
General Fund pressure relating to Covid-19 is £14,346k, and is offset by the use
of government funding and reserves.
There continues to be a pressure on the High Needs Block Dedicated Schools
Grant (DSG). The forecast 2021/22 in-year pressure is £175k which will leave a
closing 2021/22 deficit position on the DSG reserve of £5,254k, which is being
addressed through the Recovery Plan. An update to the current Recovery Plan is
due to be considered by Schools Forum in the autumn.



Savings plans of £1,167k ongoing and £8k one off were included in the 2021/22
budget, as part of the 2021/22 Estimates process. These are currently forecast as
achieved, on target or to be achieved through mitigating actions. In 2020/21
unachieved savings of £150k were reported which continue in 2021/22; these will
be met through the use of Government Grants and through mitigating actions.



An update on the Health & Social Care Pool Fund opening position. A detailed
report is to be presented to ICB on 31st August 2021.



Forecast Capital expenditure of £107,328k; this is net of:
1

Page 12

o brought forward balances from previous financial years of £94,703k
o re-phasing of £56,258k into future years, mainly relating to work that has
been completed to review and re-profile the Capital Budget , and
o Capital budget increases of £11,697k.


The forecast 2021/22 Collection Fund position of a deficit of £6,062k, which will
be mitigated by additional Government Section 31 grant of £9,498k, leaving a
residual surplus of £3,436k.
Recommendations

2.1

Cabinet notes the forecast 2021/22 financial positions for Revenue, Capital, and
the Collection Fund as at the end of June 2021, as detailed in section 4.

2.2

Cabinet notes the emergency delegated decision which has been made for the
use of the Covid Local Support Grant of £882k to contribute to food vouchers for
the Summer Break, as shown in section 4.1.2.

2.3

Cabinet approve the commencement of procurement for the Council’s long term
contracts for insurance detailed in section 4.1.2.

2.4

Cabinet notes the Health & Social Care Pool Budget opening position as detailed
in section 4.2.

2.5

Cabinet approves the Budget Pressure requests detailed in section 4.3.

2.6

Cabinet notes the forecast achieved Savings target in section 4.4.

2.7

Cabinet notes the net Capital budget changes of £11,697k, which includes the
return of £400k of budget relating to Link4Life detailed in section 4.6.1.

2.8

Cabinet notes the Capital re-phasing of £56,258k into future years detailed in
section 4.6.2.

2.9

Cabinet approves the requests to switch budgets within the Economy Service
and Neighbourhoods Service as detailed in section 4.6.3.

2.10

Cabinet notes the switch between Resources and Neighbourhoods as detailed in
section 4.6.3.
Reason for Recommendation

3.

Cabinet Members should be kept updated on the financial position of the authority,
as effective budget management is critical to ensuring financial resources are
spent in line with the budget and are targeted towards the Council’s priorities.
2

Page 13

This report focuses on the forecast 2021/22 financial position as at the end June
2021.
Key Points for Consideration
4.

Revenue Budget 2021/22

4.1

The budget set by Budget Council on 3rd March 2021 was £235,984k:

Approved by
Budget Council

When
Mar-21

Amount
(£'000)
235,984
235,984

Reason for change
Approved budget
GRAND TOTAL

The Revenue Budget Table in 4.1.1 provides detail of budget allocations and the
estimated 2021/22 financial position.
4.1.1 The forecast position as at the end of June 2021 is a General Fund breakeven
position



Non Covid-19 in-year forecast is a breakeven position.
The pressure attributable to Covid-19 of £14,346k is covered by
government Covid funding and use of reserves.

The table below provides detail by Directorate:
Directorate/Detail

Current
Controllable
Net Budget

Adult Care
Children’s
Economy
Neighbourhoods
Public Health
Resources
Total Services Spending
Contribution from Integrated Pool
Contribution
to Integrated Pool Budget
Budget
Total Pooled Budgets
Finance Control Corporately Held
Finance
Budgets Control Budget Pressures
Total Finance Control Spending
Net Expenditure
Uncontrollable Budget Spend
Total Budget

3

£’000
50,261
47,344
16,110
52,238
19,186
12,291
197,430
106,000
(106,000)

Page 14

12,117
1,469
13,586
211,016
24,968
235,984

Forecast
Forecast InControllable Year Saving
Outurn Qtr1 (Overspend)
£’000
50,261
47,621
16,547
52,307
19,186
12,122
198,044
106,000
(106,000)
11,503
1,469
12,972
211,016
24,968
235,984

£’000
(277)
(437)
(69)
169
(614)
614
614
-

The variations to controllable Revenue budget, by service, which are not related to
Covid-19 are detailed below, and further detail may be found in Appendix A:

Service
Adult Care

Children's

Economy

Narrative
The core service provision is expected to break even
with a pressure from commissioned placements being
matched by in year savings, mainly from staff
turnover and one off funding from Health.
As at quarter 1 the overall position on the general
fund element of the children's budget is a £277k
overspend which is related to the pressure on SEND
transport. This is a statutory duty which cannot be
funded by the dedicated schools grant.
DSG - There is also an overspend on the High Needs
block Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) of £175k which
is related to continued growth within SEND.
Additional national high Needs Funding and a 0.5%
transfer from the schools block have helped to reduce
the projected pressure, however the service are
seeing a big increase in applications for Education
Health and Care Plans and therefore this may be a
delayed impact of Covid 19. The forecast cumulative
deficit position is £5.254m.
The Economy Directorate is reporting a potential inyear pressure of £437k, within the Property Growth
Fund due to the budgeted savings requirement being
based on forecast levels of investment to date; as
potential investments depend upon market forces and
the availability of suitable opportunities the Council's
actual level of investment to date is lower than initially
anticipated and therefore the savings requirement
does not match operational activity. Future years
approved budgets are being realigned to take into
account current investment levels and so this is a
non-recurrent pressure.

4

Page 15

Amount
£'000
0

(277)

(437)

Service

Narrative
The Neighbourhoods Directorate is reporting a
potential in-year pressure of £69k. £195k relates to
projected shortfalls on income generated from solar
energy and from bin sales due to the number
provided free through the appeals process. Against
this the Directorate is currently forecasting in-year
savings of £126k, mainly from delayed filling of
vacancies.

Amount
£'000
(69)

There is a pressure relating to the Homelessness
Neighbourhoods service area due to increased numbers of service
users and accommodation costs, which can only be
partially offset by Government Housing Benefit
subsidy. Although budget provision has been made,
further corporate funding of £500k has been
earmarked to address the forecast pressure.
A request is made for £60k recurrent budget pressure
funding in 22/23 for additional costs which will be
incurred as a result of bringing the CCTV service in
house
Finance Control

In-year saving relates to reduced borrowing costs
(deferred and lower rates) plus slightly higher
investment income received than originally projected.

614

Resources

The Resources Directorate is reporting a potential inyear saving of £169k. In addition to the previously
reported pressures for the Legal Shared Service with
Manchester City Council in 2020/21, there are further
pressures as a result of software costs & work around
the Council Tax Review within Revenues and
Benefits. These pressures are mitigated from in-year
employee savings from vacant posts, temporary
arrangements and one off funding.

169

Total

0

4.1.2


The use of Covid Local Support grant received of £882k, to provide food vouchers
to support vulnerable households for the summer break, has been approved
through the emergency delegated decision process. The overall cost of the
initiative over the summer to support households living in poverty through food
clubs, the food solutions network and other means, is £1,133k. Budgets have been
identified to meet all costs apart from a £50k shortfall. A budget pressure request
of £50k was approved as part of the delegated decision process, detailed in
Section 4.3.

5

Page 16



Insurance Tender 2022/23; The Council’s Long Term Contracts with current
insurers are due to expire 31st May 2022. The Council usually tender on a three
plus two year basis. The total premium spend for the 2021/22 renewals was just
over £1.573m.
The last tender took place in 2017 and contained 13 separate lots / policies
including associated claims handling services. In order to protect the Council
financially, and comply with certain mandatory insurance requirements, it is
recommended that insurance is procured to cover the 2022/23 – 2024/25 policy
years, with the option to extend to 2026/27. Approval is sought to commence the
tender process and approach the insurance market for quotations.

4.1.3 The variations to controllable Revenue budget, by service, due to Covid-19 are
detailed below:
Expenditure
Adult Social Care

£'000s
3,838

Children's Social Care/Education

3,630

Public Health & Housing

8,526

Cultural & Related

1,678

Environmental & Regulatory Services

220

Finance & Corporate

2,615

Other services

1,414

Total forecast expenditure pressure
Less funding received for specific Covid-19 grants
& CCG funding
Forecast net expenditure pressure
Income

21,921
(15,767)
6,154
£'000s

Sales, fees and charges

1,389

Commercial Income

6,803

Forecast reduction in income

8,192

Total forecast pressure
Use of 2021/22 unringfenced Government
Emergency Funding, and Covid Reserve b/fwd
from 2020/21
Forecast Government compensation re Sales,
Fees & Charges Income, and use of reserves
Forecast 2021/22 net Covid pressure

14,346
(12,346)
(2,000)
0

The Government developed an income compensation scheme for lost sales, fees
and charges for 2020/21 and the first quarter of 2021/22 as a result of the impact

6

Page 17

of Covid 19. The Council will be submitting a claim for the quarter 1 pressure. The
scheme does not compensate the Council for any commercial income losses.
Work continues to assess the financial impact and timeframe involved relating to
Covid-19. The longer term implications are being considered to support the Council
in its financial planning going forward.
As at 31st March 2021, £8,679k was held in an earmarked reserve to be used to
offset the post 2020/21 impact of Covid 19, recognising that some of the forecast
financial impact of the pandemic will not materialise until 2021/22 and future years.
The reserve is to be used to offset demand led and economic pressures as the
pressure materialises.

4.2

Health & Social Care Pool Budget
As at the end of June 2021 there is no gap forecast for 2021/22. The risk share
agreement for 2021/22 makes each Partner responsible for their own pooled
fund gap.
The full report for the Health & Social Care Pooled Fund will be presented to
ICB on 31st August 2021.
2021/22 Expenditure Budgets

Opening 2021/22 Budget
£000's

Adults’ Services
Management, Support and Commissioning

3,100

Adults, Older People and Physical Disability

48,300

Learning Disability / Mental Health

60,200

Acute Health Care

116,500

Primary Care - Prescribing

32,200

Other Services

9,900

Adult Public Health

7,700

Total Adult Pooled Services

277,900

Children's Services
Management, Support and Commissioning

7

Page 18

2,800

Opening 2021/22 Budget

2021/22 Expenditure Budgets

£000's

Children's Early Intervention

7,200

Health Community Services

13,800

Learning Disability / Mental Health

8,000

Special Educational Needs

4,200

Acute Health Care

22,900

Children 0-19 Public Health

5,500

Cared for Children and Safeguarding

28,600

Primary Care - Prescribing

8,600

Other Services

1,800

Total Children's Pooled Services

103,400

Total Health and Social Care Pooled Budgets

381,300

Contribution from Partners
CCG

(275,300)

LA

(106,000)

Total Contributions

(381,300)

Budget Gap

4.3

-

Budget Pressures
The Budget Pressure Fund for 2021/22 is £2,429k; this includes brought forward
ongoing budget of £500k and one off funding of £928.6k. The following table
details requests received for the 1st Quarter to 30th June 2021, and requests
approved from previous financial years:

Service
Balance Brought
Forward

Ongoing
£000s
500.5

One-off
£000's
928.6
8

Total
£000s
1,429.1

Page 19

Narrative

Service
Base Budget 2021/22
Total Previous Years
Allocations
Opening Balance for
2021/22
Quarter 1 Requests:

Ongoing One-off
£000s
£000's
1,000
429.6
1,070.9

451
447.6

Children’s

Economy

Neighbourhoods

880.6
1,548.5

108.4

92.1

962.5

335.5

The balance brought forward
is net of previously approved
allocations
Top-up funding has been
approved in the delegated report
for Food Vouchers to be
provided to families throughout
the Summer break
Building Control request 3 year
funding for 3 posts to develop,
and address sustainability of the
service: Trainee Technical
Admin Officer, Trainee Building
Control officer & Building Control
To fund additional staff,
marketing, and events
expenditure relating to the
Climate Change Emergency
agenda. Future years funding
will be sought through the
budget setting

50

Neighbourhoods

Funding Remaining
2021/22
Future Year
Allocations 2022/23

Total
£000s
Narrative
1,000 Increased allocation

1,298
Budget pressure request for
CCTV to ensure service
continuity.

60

If the requests are approved the balance remaining for budget pressures in
2021/22 is £1,298k; £962.5k ongoing and £335.5k one off.
4.4

Savings
The overall savings target for Services for 2021/22 is £1,175k (£1,167k recurrent,
and £8k one-off), as approved as part of the 2021/22 estimates process.
Within the final 2020/21 outturn report there were unachieved savings of £150k.
These savings continue to be a pressure in 2021/22 and will be achieved through
the use of Government grant or through mitigating actions within the Service in
2021/22.

9

Page 20

The table below shows the savings for 2021/22, as agreed in the 2021/22
estimates process, which are all forecast to be achieved, on target or achieved
through mitigating actions.
Service

Nature of Saving

Savings Savings
Total
Target - Target - Balance
Ongoing One Off
to
Address
£'000

Staffing reduction in Adult Social Care in areas
Adult Care not covered by other savings proposals
Adult Care Changes to Adult Care charging policy
Staffing realignment Prevention / Recovery
Adult Care and Reablement Teams*
Increased Planning Income from Pre
Application Charges/Planning Performance
Economy
Agreements
Economy

Project Manager Capitalisation (NB)

Economy

Re-letting for health and social care

Economy

Admin support review

£'000

£'000

40

-

80

-

119

-

30

-

20

8

-

10

-

Resources Treasury management review

300

-

Resources Insurance reserve review

300

-

Resources Revenues and Benefits Service Review

50

-

Resources Artificial Intelligence - Revenues and Benefits

30

-

188

-

Corporate

Leadership and Senior Management Review
Total Savings and Balance to Address

10

Page 21

1,167

8

-

4.5

Transformation Fund

The following schemes have been allocated Transformation funding for 2021/22.
There are no savings targets attached to these budgets. A brief description of
funding allocated is listed below:
 Economy
Strategic Planning Core Budget: - The transformation funding of £106k has
been used to supplement the core budget for the Strategic Planning team.
This has allowed the team to continue to focus on work to support the Greater
Manchester Spatial Framework which is an integral part of the growth plans
for Rochdale and the Covid-19 recovery plan.
One Public Estate (OPE) - Integration Manager & Support Officer: - Funding
provided of £67k for additional staff to enable participation in partnership
working around the OPE programme. The benefits of which include: asset
rationalisation across the public estate, rental income, capital receipts and
access to sources of funding.
 Resources
Council property title and marketing project funding of £19k (Creation of 2 Full
Time Equivalent (FTE) Post for 24 months (year 1):-Council property title and
marketing project (Creation of 2 FTE Post for 24 months (year 2):- Having a
dedicated resource has enabled matters to be completed much quicker which
has resulted in increased capital receipts and associated legal fees.
Stepping up approach to transformation: - Funding of £45k (2021/22) for a 2
year Transformation & Reform Lead Role. Whilst currently vacant, the role is
expected to be advertised in the near future and therefore the remaining
budget is expected to be spent.
Artificial Intelligence Project: - Funding of £61k (2021/22) for Two Proof of
Concept projects which are currently being undertaken within Revenues &
Benefits. The projects are expected to utilise the full budget funding made
available through the Transformation Fund.

11

Page 22

4.6

Capital Budget 2021/22
The forecast position for the 2021/22 Capital Budget is £107,328k, with spend
to date of £8,032k (7% of budget). The table below shows a summary of the
budget movements to the end of June 2021:

BUDGET COUNCIL MARCH 2021
Rephasing b/f (from previous years)
Capital Budget Changes
Rephasing c/f (from previous years)
Rephasing requested Qtr 1
BUDGET AS AT END OF JUNE
2021

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

£'000s
57,186
105,820
11,697
(11,117)
(56,258)

£'000s
32,468
20,850
(831)

£'000s
46,760
12,355

51,258

5,000

107,328

103,745

64,115

4.6.1 Capital Budget Changes
Details of the increases to capital budgets are shown in the table below:

Service

Narrative

Funding Method

Children's

Adjust Devolved Formula Capital
budget to reconcile with final
allocation

Capital
Budget
Increases
(Reductions)
£000's

9
External Funding

Adjust Schools Capital Condition
budget to reconcile with final
Children's
allocation
Local Transport Plan Funding
Neighbourhoods
reduction adjustment

External Funding
External Funding

(1,357)

Neighbourhoods Integrated transport block grant

External Funding

1,068

Neighbourhoods S106 use of grants

External Funding

48

Decarbonisation scheme
adjustment to the Capital
Neighbourhoods Programme as grant was not
confirmed in time for Budget
Council.

External Funding

11,062

Neighbourhoods Middleton Arena Refund

RCCO

12

Page 23

1,143

124

Service

Public Health

Narrative

Funding Method

Link4Life Capital Projects,
Removal of the £0.4m budget for
the Rochdale Leisure Centre
Gym Expansion which will no
longer be going ahead.
Total Capital Budget Changes

Capital
Budget
Increases
(Reductions)
£000's

(400)
Borrowing
11,697

4.6.2 As part of the financial monitoring and analysis of ongoing pressures being placed on
the Council following the Covid 19 pandemic, a review of the Capital Programme has
been undertaken to reduce the future debt repayment burden on the Council as part of
the Medium Term Financial Strategy and to understand spend in the current year and
the impact on the Council’s cash flow.
There has been a review of 2021/22 capital budgets across the Council to consider
whether schemes could be re-prioritised, and rephased into future years or reduced.
The review has categorised projects within these budgets under several categories to
assist with prioritisation and understanding of the link to revenue costs over and above
repayment and risk.
Capital Re-phasing requests to the end of June 2021, which have been
approved by the Chief Finance Officer, are shown in Appendix B (2).
The estimated revenue savings to be achieved through the rephasing of schemes
above funded via prudential borrowing have been accounted for in the quarter 1
Revenue monitoring, and will be included in the 2022/23 Estimates process.
4.6.3 The following budget switches are requested to fund expenditure:
Service

Budget
Switches
£000s

Scheme

Kirkholt Investment - Scheme underspend is
Neighbourhoods requested to be transferred to Balderstone Park
Additional Highways Funding Scheme underspend
Neighbourhoods is requested to be transferred to Balderstone Park
Section 106 - Environmental Management - £84k
requested to be transferred to the Balderstone
Park scheme from the Additional Highways
Neighbourhoods scheme and the Kirkholt Investment scheme.
Coroners Service accommodation - request to
Neighbourhoods switch budget underspend to CCTV project
CCTV Upgrade - Budget from Coroners Service
Neighbourhoods Accommodation and current budget is requested to
13

Page 24

(6)
(78)

84
(87)

87

Service

Budget
Switches
£000s

Scheme
rephase to 2022/23 as project will span multiple
years

Economy

Asset Development Fund - Chamber House Solar
Farm £2,205k to be switched to Property Growth
Fund to provide match funding to allow the scheme
to progress.

Economy

Property Growth Fund - Chamber House Solar
Farm £2,205k to be switched from Asset
Development Fund.

Economy

Rochdale Market - £36k to be switched to fund
expenditure on Town Centre Residential Strategy
in 21/22

Economy

Town Centre Residential Strategy: (£36k) to be
switched from Rochdale Market to fund
expenditure in 2021/22

Economy

Hopwood Old Hall - Feasibility: £50k to be
switched to Hopwood Hall Refurbishment to form a
combined Hopwood Hall budget.

Economy

Middleton Town Centre Phase 3: Hopwood Hall
Emergency Works budget to be switched to
Hopwood Hall Refurbishment to form a combined
Hopwood Hall budget.

Economy

Economy

Economy
Economy
Economy

Economy

Hopwood Hall Refurbishment: Budget to be
switched from Hopwood Hall Emergency Works
(£2k) and Hopwood Hall Feasibility (£50k) to form
a combined Hopwood Hall budget.
Milkstone Road Master Plan: To be switched to
Rail Corridor Strategy scheme - railway schemes
are being merged into one code for monitoring
purposes
East Lancs Railway Castleton Masterplan: £1,230k
to be switched to form a merged Rail Corridor
Strategy in 2021/22.
Smithybridge Railway Station: £400k to be
switched to form a merged Rail Corridor Strategy in
21/22.
Railway Strategy Park & Ride: £233k to be
switched to form a merged Rail Corridor Strategy in
21/22.
Rail Corridor Strategy: Several schemes totalling
(£4,111k) to be merged to form the Railway
Corridor Strategy. £1,000k to be rephased to
2022/23. Awaiting the purchase of land at various
sites.
TOTAL
14

Page 25

(2,205)

2,205

(36)

36

(50)

(2)

52

(2,248)

(1,230)
(400)
(233)

4,111
0

A switch of £2,000k in 2021/22 and £500k in 2022/23 from the Investment Fund
to the Highways Maintenance in-house service has been approved, using the
delegated authority of the Chief Finance Officer, Leader and Portfolio Holder.
This is to allow the project to progress, enabling necessary equipment to be
purchased in advance of the undertaking planned from 1st April 2022.
4.6.4 Capital Receipts
Capital receipts are received on the sale of various assets including land,
buildings and vehicles. The forecast movements in the Capital Receipts
Reserve during 2021/22, and provisionally for 2022/23 to 2024/25 are included
in the table below.
2021/22

Description
Capital Receipts balance as at 1st April 2021
Use of Capital Receipts to fund 2021/22
Capital Programme, including prior year
schemes rephased into 2021/22
Use of Capital Receipts to fund provisional
2022/23 and 2023/24 Capital Programmes,
and 2021/22 rephasing into future years
Earmarked use of receipts to fund other future
commitments
Capital Receipts income
Forecast uncommitted Capital Receipts
balance as at 31st March 2022

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

£000s
10,867

£000s
2,338

£000s
2,347

£000s
2,847

(8,329)

-

-

-

-

(44)

-

-

(2,916)

(1,588)

(109)

-

2,717

1,641

609

400

2,338

2,347

2,847

3,247

The forecast uncommitted Capital Receipts Reserve balance as at the end of
2024/25 is £3,247k.

4.7

Collection Fund

4.7.1 The forecast Collection Fund outturn position for 2021/22 is a deficit of
£6,062k, comprising:




£7,105k deficit relating to Business Rates. However Section 31
grant of £9,498k is forecast to be received to offset Extended Retail
Relief discount given; this will leave a forecast net residual surplus
of £2,393k.
£1,043k surplus relating to Council Tax.
The recovery of the Collection Fund from the impact of the pandemic is
uncertain; it continues to be affected by the impact of Covid-19 and Government
initiatives on businesses and Council Tax payers.

4.7.2 Table 1 shows the forecast 2021/22 Collection Fund position, and the
allocation between precepting authorities.
15

Page 26

Table 1 – 2021/22 Collection Fund forecast outturn

Business Council
Rates
Tax
£'000
Forecast 2021/22 Collection Fund
(surplus)/ deficit

£'000

Total
£'000

7,105

(1,043)

6,062

7,034

(885)

6,149

-

(112)

(112)

71

(46)

25

Forecast Outturn (surplus)/ deficit

7,105

(1,043)

6,062

S31 income - Extended Retail Relief

(9,498)

-

(9,498)

Forecast net surplus

(2,393)

(1,043)

(3,436)

Preceptors' share of forecast
2021/22 outturn
Rochdale BC
GMCA Mayoral Police & Crime
Commissioner
GMCA Mayoral General (including
Fire Services)

The Council’s share of the forecast Collection Fund deficit is £6,149k, which
will be wholly offset by Government Section 31 grant funding of £9,403k,
leaving a net surplus position of £3,254k. This surplus position is a positive
position for the first quarter and will be subject to on-going review throughout
the financial year.
The following table provides the explanation of variances relating to Business
Rates:
Variation
to budget,
£'000

Explanation of variance
Forecast decreased net Business Rates income mainly
due to the government decision to give Extended Retail
Relief for 2021/22, linked to the Covid19 pandemic;
Section 31 grant to offset the discount given is received in
the Council's General Fund.
Actual deficit brought forward from 2020/21 is £2,443k
lower than had been forecast as part of the 2021/22
Budget process.
Forecast 2021/22 Outturn deficit
S31 income - Extended Retail Relief
Net forecast 2021/22 Outturn surplus, after S31 relief

16

Page 27

9,548

(2,443)
7,105
(9,498)
(2,393)

The following table provides an explanation of variances relating to Council
Tax:

Explanation of variance
Forecast reduced level of Local Council Tax Support
discount given due to reduced numbers of Working
age claimants; however there is uncertainty regarding
the impact on individuals of the ending of the Covid19
furlough scheme and issues relating to the economy
Forecast reduced charge relating to the bad debt
provision, although there is uncertainty relating to the
on-going impact of Covid 19 on debt collection.
Actual deficit brought forward from 2020/21 was
£3,133k; £3,476k deficit was forecast as part of the
2021/22 Budget process.
Forecast 2021/22 Outturn surplus

Variation
to budget,
£'000
(400)

(300)
(343)
(1,043)

There will be a longer term impact on Collection Fund income which is
dependent on the recovery of businesses and households. This will impact on
the Council’s core funding for services. Work is ongoing to assess the longer
term impact on the Council’s financial position.
4.9

Alternatives considered

4.9.1 Not reporting on financial performance puts at risk the achievement of the
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. Effective budget management is critical
to ensuring financial resources are spent in line with the budget and are
targeted towards the Council’s priorities. Monitoring enables the early
identification of variations against the plan and facilitates timely corrective
action.
Costs and Budget Summary
5.

Financial Implications
The main body of the report provides a detailed analysis of the forecast
2021/22 Finance Outturn position.
Risk and Policy Implications

6.

There are no significant legal implications arising as a result of this report to the
Cabinet and the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, but it should be
noted that debts, which are recoverable, can be enforced by Court action in
accordance with the Court Procedure Rules.
The impact of Covid-19 pressures relating to additional expenditure and lost
income is forecast to continue to have an impact on the Council’s financial
17

Page 28

position both in 2021/22 and in the medium term. The 2021/22 budget and
Medium Term Financial Plan include forecast lower income levels for Business
Rates and Council Tax due to the pandemic, which is being offset through the
use of both one off government funding and reserves in the short term.
However, this cannot be sustained in the longer term. Recovery from the
pandemic is being closely monitored.
Unresolved appeals against the revaluation assessments for 2010 and 2017
cause uncertainty and financial risk for the Business Rates income retained by
the Council. The situation is monitored on a monthly basis to ensure that any
changes in the trend for successful appeals are recognised due to the future
impact on Business Rates income and the impact for the provision for any
backdated elements.
The Valuation Office Agency (VOA) alters rating assessments if new
information comes to light indicating that the valuation is inaccurate. These
could relate to a demolition, new property builds or other physical changes to a
property. The number of alterations, financial impact and timing of the
revaluations are not within the control of the Council. There is an on-going risk
that issues decided nationally by the VOA could potentially impact on Rochdale
BC’s Business Rates income.
The future level of collection of Corporate Debt (including Commercial Income),
Business Rates and Council Tax debt is a potential financial risk, particularly
with the on-going impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. Collection performance is
monitored on a monthly basis to ensure that debt is recovered as efficiently and
effectively as possible, whilst making adjustments to reflect the current
circumstances, and so that any trends may be highlighted and action taken as
necessary, at the appropriate time. Debt collection is likely to continue to be
affected by the impact of Covid-19 in this financial year. Provisions have been
increased to reflect the increased risk of non-collection.
Consultation
7.

All services engage with the production of the directorate based financial
information within this report. The Leadership Team, the Leader, Cabinet
Member for Finance and Corporate, and Opposition Portfolio holder for Finance
have been informed of the forecast 2021/22 financial position of the Council
and its implications for future years. The report will be presented to the
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 14th September 2021.
Background Papers

8.

For further information about this
report or access to any
background papers contact
Samantha Smith

Place of Inspection
No1 Riverside Floor 2

18

Page 29

For Further Information Contact:

Samantha Smith, Samantha.Smith@rochdale.gov.uk
Tel : 01706 924198

19

Page 30

Appendix A – Revenue Budget ‘Variations to budget’ narrative – Quarter 1 to 30th June 2021

Service
Adult Care

Page 31

Children's

Narrative
Neighbourhoods:- Increase in placement costs offset by one off
additional income received from Health towards placements
Boroughwide Services:- Pressures from higher costs commissioned
places for service users
In House Provider Services:-In year saving in staffing costs due to staff
turnover of £113k
Adult Care Variation to Budget
Cared for Children: - Small underspend on placements.
Early Help/Sure Start: - Staff vacancies to date.
School Support: - Overachievement of income on personnel and
governors.
Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND):- Pressure on SEND
transport due to continued growth in this area, this is a statutory duty.
Work is ongoing to address this pressure through the Budget process.
Youth Service: - Staff vacancies to date.
High Needs Block - Additional High Needs Block funding for 2021/22
has reduced the pressure from prior year, however the service are
seeing increased applications for Education Health Care Plan's, this
may be a delayed impact of covid. This position may increase once the
growth in the new school year (September) comes through.
Children's Services Variation to Budget

20

Budget
£'000s

Forecast
Spend

Variance

44,986

44,887

99

3,821

4,033

(212)

1,304

1,191

113

50,111
24,774
4,998

50,111
24,750
4,948

0
24
50

1,377

1,296

81

6,477

6,934

(457)

9

(16)

25

(175)

(175)

0

37,635

37,737

(277)

Service

Economy

Page 32

Finance Control/
Tax & Treasury

Narrative
Property Growth Fund: - The overall Property Growth Fund Investment
Portfolio is forecast to deliver the 1.5% budgeted return on investments
completed to date. The reported pressure of £0.437m is due to the
budgeted savings requirement being based on forecast levels of
investment to date; as potential investments depend upon market
forces and the availability of suitable opportunities the Council's actual
level of investment to date is lower than initially anticipated and
therefore the savings requirement does not match operational activity.
Future years approved budgets have been realigned to take into
account current investment levels and so this is a non-recurrent
pressure.
Economy Services Variation to Budget
In-year saving relates to reduced borrowing costs (deferred and lower
rates) plus slightly higher investment income received than originally
projected.
Finance Control Variation to Budget

Environmental Management: - The income target relating to sale of bins
Neighbourhoods is not expected to be achieved in full due to a higher than anticipated
number provided for free through the appeals process (£169k). This
pressure is being partially offset by £126k of savings arising from
delayed filling of vacancies and small savings on fuel and equipment
budgets
Strategic Housing: - There is a pressure relating to the Homelessness
service area due to increased numbers of service users and
accommodation costs, which can only be partially offset by government
Housing Benefit subsidy. Although budget provision has been made,

21

Budget
£'000s

Forecast
Spend

Variance

(1,729)

(1,292)

(437)

(1,729)

(1,292)

(437)

13,586

12,972

614

13,586

12,972

614

11,501

11,544

(43)

2,200

2,200

0

Service

Neighbourhoods

Resources

Narrative
further corporate funding of £500k has been earmarked to address the
forecast pressure.
Properties: - Pressure in respect of income generated from solar
energy.

Page 33

Neighbourhoods Service Variation to Budget
Finance Services: - In-year savings due to staffing.
Other Managed Budgets: - In-year savings as a result of vacant posts
at Finance Manager level.
Revenues and Benefits: - In-year savings due to staffing are partially
mitigating a pressure relating to software and work around the Council
Tax Discount review.
Legal Services: - Pressure within the Shared Legal Service with
Manchester City Council.
Human Resources: - In-year savings due to staffing.
Governance: - In-year savings due to staffing.
Resources Service Variation to Budget
Total Variation to Revenue Budget - 2020/21

22

Budget
£'000s

Forecast
Spend

Variance

229

255

(26)

13,930

13,999

(69)

1,759

1,752

7

2,350

2,151

199

1,799

1,834

(35)

1,805

1,938

(133)

1,877
2,074
11,664

1,812
2,009
11,496

66
65
169
-

Appendix B – Capital Forecast Spend by Scheme as at Quarter 1, June 2021

Page 34

Service

Scheme

Adult Care
Adult Care
Adult Care
Children's
Children's
Children's
Children's

Better Care Fund
Disabled Facilities Grant

Children's
Children's
Children's
Children's
Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy

Aiming High For Disabled Child
Devolved Formula Capital
Early Years Capital Grant
New Place Planning
Schools Cap Condition Programme
Special Provision Capital Fund
CWD Residential Home
Definitive ROW Improvement Programme
River Roch Flood Storage
Rochdale Gateways Environmental
Programme
Stakehill Industrial Estate
Asset Development Fund
Property Growth Fund
Milnrow TC Butterworth Hall Flood Risk
Mgt
Turf Hill Flood Risk Mgt

2021/22
2021/22 Forecast
Variation,
budget, Outturn,
£k
£k
£k
380
380
3,829
2,829
1,000
4,209
3,325
1,000
42
42
915
915
19
19
27,833
7,833
20,000
5,321
4,821
500

Total
2022/23 2023/24
budget,
budget, budget,
£k
£k
£k
380
2,633
2,633
9,095
2,633
2,633
9,475
42
461
461
1,837
19
5,200
5,200
38,233
1,808
1,808
8,937

593
1,114
35,837
54

1,114
14,744
54

593
21,093
-

7,469
-

7,469
-

593
1,114
50,775

1,096
17

1,010
17

86
-

1,250
-

4,500
-

6,846

46
5,288
23,610
100

26
1,568
3,815
-

20
3,720
19,795
100

20,000
-

20,000
-

46
5,288
63,610

500

500

-

-

-

500

23

54

17

100

Service

Scheme

Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy

East Lancashire Railway
Lower Falinge
Heywood South/Junction 19
Railway Strategy Park & Ride

Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy

Page 35

Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy

Northern Gateway Feasibility & Study
Pennine Holl Lake Feasibility
Metrolink Feasibility
Birch Fountain & Horse Trough-Middleton
East Lancashire Railway - Castleton Mast
Rail Corridor Strategy
SmithyBridge Railway Station
Michael Faraday Avenue
Middleton Town Centre Phase 3
Town Centre East Feasibility
Town Hall Adaptation and Restoration
Rochdale Market
Town Hall Square PH2
Drake Street Phase 2
Town Centre Schemes 2016/17
Rochdale Town Centre 3 Year Strategy
Hopwood Hall Refurbishment

2021/22
budget,
£k
326
4
2,721
233
359

2021/22
Forecast
Variation,
Outturn,
£k
£k
100
226
4
300
2,421
233
359
-

23
50
22
1,230

23
50
22
-

400
3,109
2
393
2,619

3,111
3,109
58
2,619

37
647
1,055
958
702
45

1
647
955
958
352
97

24

-

-

Total
2022/23 2023/24
budget,
budget, budget,
£k
£k
£k
326
4
2,721
233
359

1,230

-

-

3,111
400
2
335
-

3,500

4,831

36
100
350
52

2,200
100
-

4,700
-

23
50
22
1,230
400
3,109
2
393
10,950
37
7,547
1,155
958
702
45

Service

Economy
Economy

Page 36

Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy
Economy
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods

Scheme
Town Centre Residential Strategy
Rochdale Riverside Phase 2
Milkstone Road Master Plan
Hey/Midd/Litt Town Centre Masterplans
Hopwood Old Hall Feasibility
Town Centre Masterplan
ICT Infrastructure Refresh Programme
ICT Programmes (Staff)
Office 365
Townships Capital Programme
Housing Standards Fund
Kirkholt Investment
New Cemetery Sites

Replacement Parks/Street Machinery
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods Rights Of Way
Neighbourhoods Rochdale Cemetery Lodge Repair
Neighbourhoods

Section 106 - Environmental Management

Townships Capital - Environmental
Neighbourhoods Management
Neighbourhoods Upgrade Play Equipment
Neighbourhoods Vehicle Replacement Programme

2021/22
2021/22 Forecast
Variation,
budget, Outturn,
£k
£k
£k
2,261
2,297 36
2,875
2,248
121
50
50
53,251
566
554
450
437
835
6
1,640
124
127
94
1,846
179
231
2,261

25

2,875
-

2,248

121
50
25,098
566
554
225
437
835
807
124
127
94
1,888
179
231
1,242

50
28,153
225
6
833
-

-

42

Total
2022/23 2023/24
budget,
budget, budget,
£k
£k
£k
2,261
-

-

27,050
444
500
400
800
-

34,031
444
500
400
800
-

120
80
-

120
80
-

-

-

75
1,839

75
1,777

1,019

2,875
2,248
121
50
50
114,332
1,454
1,554
450
1,237
2,435
6
1,640
364
287
94
1,846
179
381
5,877

Service

Scheme

Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods

Waste Bin Replacement Programme
Asset Management Group
Local Transport Plan
Townships Capital - Highways
Burglary Reduction Scheme
N1R Revolving Doors
Decarbonisation Scheme

Page 37

Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods

Coroners Service accommodation
Additional Highways Funding
J19 Feasibility
TFGM Grants
Developer Contributions
Beelines Award
GM Full Fibre Programme

Service Desk System Replacement
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods Compulsory Purchase Order Programme
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods

Travellers Authorised Stopping Site
Climate Emergency
Car Parking Machines
Allotments 2017-18 Manifesto Funding
Accelerated Housing
Affordable Housing

2021/22
budget,
£k
288
2,997
2,798
600
100
120
11,062
92
79
23,792
83
926
110
1,628
46
1,019
9
167
1,561
2,325

26

2021/22
Forecast
Variation,
Outturn,
£k
£k
288
2,997
2,798
600
100
120
11,062
5
87
1
23,792
83
926
60
1,628
46
500
9
167
1,561
2,325

78
50
519
-

Total
2022/23 2023/24
budget,
budget, budget,
£k
£k
£k
293
298
879
1,750
1,750
6,497
2,714
2,714
8,226
600
300
100
100
120
11,062
-

-

50
1,430

2,419

1,000
650
-

1,000
1,705
-

92
79
23,792
83
926
160
5,477
46
3,019
9
167
3,916
2,325

Service

Scheme

Page 38

Customer Transformation Programme
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods CCTV Upgrade
Neighbourhoods Library Self Service
Neighbourhoods Extended Library Hours
Neighbourhoods N1R Utilisation
Neighbourhoods Highway Investment Programme
Neighbourhoods Bowlee Free School
Neighbourhoods
Link4Life Capital Project
Public Health
Public Health
Investment Fund
Resources
Resources
Total Capital Forecast Position at June 2021

2021/22
2021/22 Forecast
Variation,
budget, Outturn,
£k
£k
£k
929
800
129

2023/24
budget,
£k
14,182
800
800
-

522
20
150
70
2,653
1,280
91,203
7,303
7,303
2,500
2,500

59,115

275,588

522
20
150
70
1,333
1,280
63,456
4,733
4,733
2,500
2,500

450
20
150
70
1,333
1,280
60,480
1,297
1,297
2,500
2,500

72
2,976
3,436
3,436
-

1,320
13,565
1,770
1,770
-

163,986

107,328

56,658

52,487

27

Total
budget,
£k

2022/23
budget,
£k

929

Appendix B (2) – 2021/22 Capital budget rephasing
Rephasing Funding
Requested Source
£000s

Service

Narrative

Adult's

Disabled Facilities Grant - Funding is
for adaptations and building works.
However implementation has been
delayed due to Covid 19 and the
inability to enter premises, resulting in
reduced in year spend which will now
be implemented in 2022/23. As Covid
restrictions are being lifted this may
change during the year.

1,000

External

Children’s

Schools Capital Condition- The
scheme at Elmwood Primary will
continue into 2022/2023 due to delays
in the tendering process.

500

External

Children’s

Children's

Special Provision Capital FundCapital investments in the provision
for pupils with Special Educational
Needs and disabilities are ongoing
this year, with work on the Autistic
Secondary level at Falinge Park and
will continue into 2022/23 with work
on Castleton Primary, and Kingsway
Park High school.
New Place Planning: - The
Department for Education have
delayed the opening dates of both
new Free schools so the LA
contributions will be unspent in
2021/22. We are liaising with the
Inclusion Board to decide on a way
forward for additional SEN places but
it is unlikely that this will generate any
significant spend in this financial year.
The building scheme to increase the
number of pupil places at Brownhill
Learning Community ASC is due for
completion in 2022/23; the schemes
at Harwood Park, Castleton Primary
school and to increase dining capacity
at Falinge Park High school, are due
to be completed in 2021/22 but this
may need to be extended into the
next financial year.

Page 39
28

593 External

20,000

External

Service

Economy

Economy

Economy

Economy

Economy

Economy

Economy

Rephasing Funding
Requested Source
£000s

Narrative
River Roch Flood Storage: £1,000k is
the agreed financial agreement with
the Environment Agency plus an
additional £10k capitalised salary for
2021/22 - the remaining £86k is to be
rephased to 2022/23
Stakehill Industrial Estate: £20k to be
rephased to 2022/23. This funding is
to support the ongoing work for the
Stakehill Business Improvement
District.
Asset Development Fund - Bradferns
Asset Development Fund £515k and
Mossfield Asset Development Fund
£1,000k to be rephased to 2022/23 budgets rephased to match the
anticipated timing of planned
developments/ acquisitions.
Property Growth Fund - Direct
development Fund £16,409k,
Chamber House Farm Solar Project
£3,925k (including switched (£2,205k)
and Property Growth Fund £1,666k to
be rephased to 2022/23 - budgets
rephased to match the anticipated
timing of planned developments/
acquisitions.
Milnrow TC Butterworth Hall Flood
Risk Mgt: £100k to be rephased to
2022/23 as work is not expected to
take place in 2021/22 at this stage.
East Lancs Railway: £226k to be
rephased to 2022/23. Awaiting the
outcome of a Transport for Greater
Manchester feasibility study to confirm
the location of a platform at Heywood
Station which affects other
improvement works.
Heywood South/Junction 19: The
budget will support further feasibility
work on the delivery of the South
Heywood link road. The construction
phase will now follow completion of
the South Heywood Link Rd which is
programmed for completion summer
2022 and so £2,421k to be rephased
to 2022/23.

Page 40
29

86

Prudential
Borrowing

Prudential
20 Borrowing

1,515

Capital
Receipts

20,000

Invest to
Save

2,000

External
Funding

100

Prudential
Borrowing

226 Prudential
Borrowing

2,421 Prudential
Borrowing

Service

Economy

Economy

Economy

Economy
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods

Neighbourhoods

Neighbourhoods

Neighbourhoods

Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods
Neighbourhoods

Rephasing Funding
Requested Source
£000s

Narrative
Rail Corridor Strategy: Several
schemes totalling (£4,111k) to be
merged to form the Railway Corridor
Strategy. £1,000k to be rephased to
2022/23. Awaiting the purchase of
land at various sites.
Town Centre East Feasibility: £335k
to be rephased to 2022/23 - to be
rephased to fund any future spend on
the Rochdale Riverside scheme as
part of the capital review.
Drake Street Phase 2: £100k to be
rephased to 2022/23 as part of the
capital review
Rochdale Town Centre 3 Year
Strategy : £350k to be rephased to
2022/23 as part of the capital review
Office 365 - Request made to rephase
to future year as project will span
multiple years
New Cemetery Sites - Request made
to rephase £800k to 2022/23 to fund
replacement cremators
Section 106 - £42k requested to be
rephased into 2022/23 to allow time to
complete the scheme redesign at
Robinson's Common following site
investigations
Vehicle Replacement Programme - In
the current economic climate the time
taken to purchase vehicles has
extended beyond the normal
timeframes. A request is therefore
made to rephase budget required to
replace refuse collection vehicles and
sweepers into 2022/23
Service Desk System Replacement Request to rephase to 2022/23 as
project will span multiple years
Climate Emergency - Request to
rephase to 2022/23 as project will
span multiple years
Customer Transformation Programme
- Request to rephase to 2022/23 as
project will span multiple years
CCTV Upgrade - Request to rephase
to 2022/23 as project will span
multiple years

Page 41
30

1,000

Prudential
Borrowing

335 Prudential
Borrowing
100 Prudential
Borrowing
350 Prudential
Borrowing
225 Prudential
Borrowing
800 Prudential
Borrowing
42

1,019

External

Prudential
Borrowing

50 Prudential
Borrowing
519 Prudential
Borrowing
129 Prudential
Borrowing
192 Prudential
Borrowing

Service

Rephasing Funding
Requested Source
£000s

Narrative

Total Rephasing through Capital
Savings process

Public Health

Link4Life Capital Projects:- rephasing
of £3,000k of budget from 2021/22 to
2022/23 in relation to the
Replacement Water Activities Centre
Grand Total of Rephasing

Page 42
31

53,222

Prudential
3,036 Borrowing

56,258

Appendix C – Collection Fund
Business Rates
The 2021/22 forecast outturn position relating to Business Rates is a deficit
of £7,105k.

Description
Gross income

Budget

2021/22
Forecast (Surplus)/
Outturn Deficit

£'000

£'000

£'000

(86,863)

(86,863)

-

Net Small Business Rate relief

8,110

8,110

-

Mandatory Charitable relief

4,229

4,229

-

608

10,156

9,548

4,500

4,500

-

(69,416)

(59,868)

9,548

3,000

3,000

-

326

326

-

3,911

3,911

-

583

583

-

(61,596)

(52,048)

9,548

61,596

61,596

-

-

9,548

9,548

24,265

21,822

(2,443)

(21,794)

(21,794)

-

2,471

9,576

7,105

(2,471)

(2,471)

-

-

7,105

7,105

Discretionary relief
Empties & Part Occupied relief
Net Income
Less:
Charge re bad debt provision
Allowance for cost of collection
Provision for rateable value
revaluations
Renewable energy schemes
Net yield
2021/22 payments to
preceptors/billing authority
In year deficit
Deficit brought forward from
2020/21
Payments from preceptors/billing
authority re 2020/21 deficit per
2021/22 Budget process
2021/22 Forecast deficit/(surplus)
2022/23 & 2023/24 Payments
from preceptors re 2020/21 deficit
as per 2021/22 Budget process
Net deficit

Page 43
32

Council Tax
The 2021/22 forecast position relating to Council Tax is a surplus of £1,043k.
2021/22 Forecast Council Tax Income

Description
INCOME
Income from Council Tax
Income from premium on Empty Properties
Council Tax discounts
Local Council Tax Support Scheme (LCTSS)
Prior year adjustments
Total income
EXPENDITURE
Charge re bad debt provision
Total expenditure
Net income to be raised for precept/ billing
authority after LCTSS awarded
2021/22 payments to Preceptors
In year deficit/(surplus)
Deficit brought forward from 2020/21
2021/22 Payments from preceptors re 2020/21
deficit as per 2021/22 Budget process
2021/22 Forecast deficit/(surplus)
2022/23 & 2023/24 Payments from preceptors re
2020/21 deficit as per 2021/22 Budget process
Net surplus

Page 44
33

Budget
£'000

2021/22
Forecast
outturn
£'000

(Surplus)/
Deficit
£'000

(151,783)
(509)
15,069
22,303
203
(114,717)

(151,783)
(509)
15,069
21,903
203
(115,117)

(400)
(400)

3,442
3,442

3,142
3,142

(300)
(300)

(111,275)
111,275
3,476

(111,975)
111,275
(700)
3,133

(700)
(700)
(343)

(2,235)
1,241

(2,235)
198

(1,043)

(1,241)
-

(1,241)
(1,043)

(1,043)

Agenda Item 7
Report to Cabinet
Date of Meeting
Portfolio
Report Author
Public/Private Document

31 August 2021
Cabinet Member for
Environment and
Facilities
Jo Oliver
Public

Review of Charges for Wheeled Bins
Executive Summary
1.

Charges for all new and replacement wheeled bins were introduced in
November 2020 following approval at cabinet. The charge is currently £20 for
all new and replacement wheeled bins with certain exemptions. The charge
has seen a reduction in requests for wheeled bins of 42% compared to the
same period before charges were introduced. However the projected income
target has not been met. Members have expressed concern about the equity
of charging for bins and asked for a report seeking to remove the charges.
The report also contains recommendations for the provision of wheeled bins
to new build properties as increasingly developers are unwilling to pay for
these.
Recommendation

2.

a) That the charge to residents for new and replacement wheeled bins 240
litres or less, is stopped following the end of call in for this report, usually five
days after this meeting.
b) If a property repeatedly requests replacement bins without good reason
the council reserves the right to charge for replacement bins or refuse to
supply them.
c) Developers will still be required to pay for the first set of wheeled bins at
any new development. The charge for 140 litre or 240 litre bins will be £25
per bin, current charges for larger bins will remain.
d) £165k is requested from the budget pressure fund to mitigate the removal
of bin charges in 2021/22.

Page 45

Reason for Recommendation
3.

The recommendation in the report taken to the 25 August 2020 cabinet was
for bin charges to be reviewed 12 months after implementation. Following a
review of the income received to date and feedback from members the
recommendation is for the charges to cease.
Key Points for Consideration

4.

Following approval at cabinet 25 August 2020 charges for new or
replacement wheeled bins went live on 23 November 2020. The charge was
set at £20 per bin with a number of exemptions from the charge such as if
the bin was genuinely stolen or the resident receives an assisted collection.
Residents can appeal against the charge and it will be waived if there are
extenuating circumstances. It was estimated in the August 2020 report to
cabinet there would be a 40% reduction in requests for bins and if those
requested were all paid for (9,471) an annual income of £189,420 would be
achieved.
Table comparing number of requests for bins;
23 November 19 to
31 May 2020

23 November 20 to 31
May 2021

Number of bins requested
and supplied FOC

5,956

2,413

Number of bins requested
and paid for

n/a

1,057

Total number of bins
requested

5,956

3,470

Number of appeals where
charge waived

n/a

175

The number of requests for bins reduced by 42% over this period. The
income received from bin sales between 23 November 20 and 31 May 21
was £27,274. For a full 12 months the projected income would be £54k. The
projected level of income has not been met due in part to the exemptions
and appeals process. 190 appeals were received since charges were
introduced and only fifteen appeals were rejected i.e. residents were
required to pay for bins.
The service believes that this reduction in actual requests since the charges
were introduced had a positive effect due to many residents no longer

Page 46

automatically contacting the council if their bin was misplaced, dirty or
contaminated with the wrong type of waste i.e. non-recyclable materials.
It is evident that the charges encouraged more residents to take
responsibility for looking after their bins by taking them back to their property
after collection, removing contamination when requested to do so from bins
that were rejected and also taking time to look for their bin. It is not
uncommon for the bin to have been moved to another location not
immediately outside their property or even taken in by a neighbouring
property.
Alternatives Considered
The council could continue to charge for bins but the income target would not
be met and would be contrary to the wishes of the current administration.
The council could charge residents of new build properties for their first set of
bins if the developer refuses to pay.
Costs and Budget Summary
5.

If charges for bins are removed demand will likely revert to original levels
(15,750 bins a year) and the capital budget required to purchase bins would
be £289.8k based on current pricing. The budget is £288k for 2021/22 with a
proposed increase to £293k in 2022/23 to reflect the projected growth in the
number of households.
A budget pressure of £165k has been identified in 2021/22 due to the
income target not being achieved. This figure assumes that charges for bins
will cease following the end of the call in period for this report. The income
target of £189k which is included in the revenue budget from 2022/23
onwards and will also need to be removed from service budgets.
It should be noted that there is a global shortage of polymers due to the
pandemic and economic slowdown which has led to the increased cost of
bins and there are warnings of significant delays in delivery times. This will
be monitored and any significant changes reported.

Page 47

Risk and Policy Implications
6.

The council may receive requests for refunds from those charged for bins.
As residents were charged correctly whilst this policy was in force no refunds
will be provided.
More developers are refusing to purchase bins for residents in new build
properties and there is no mechanism through the planning process to make
them provide or purchase bins. Some developers Gleeson, Russell Homes,
Wainhomes tell buyers when they purchase a property that they the buyer
will be responsible for buying bins. Property growth is around 600 homes a
year with a set of four bins costing around £100. An income target of £21k
is included in the revenue budget for sale of bins to developers. If all
developers refused to purchase bins and they are supplied free of charge to
new homes this will be an additional budget pressure and as such will be
closely monitored and reported at year end with a view to income targets
being reduced or removed from 2022/23 onwards.

Consultation
7.

Consultation on charging for wheeled bins took place in January 2020. 546
responses were received. 63% strongly disagreed with the proposal. The
reasons most commonly sighted for disagreeing with the proposed charge
were it was felt unfair, that the cost of bins should be covered by council tax
and efforts should be concentrated on those who currently abuse the system
by repeatedly ordering replacement bins. There are no plans to consult again
on this change in policy.

Background Papers

Place of Inspection

8.

ModGov

Proposed Changes to
Environmental Management
Services cabinet report 25
August 2020

For Further Information Contact:

Jo Oliver,01706 922097,
jo.oliver@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 48

Agenda Item 8
Report to Cabinet
Date of Meeting
Portfolio
Report Author
Public/Private Document

31 August 2021
Adult Care
Steve Blezard
Public

Stairlift, vertical lift and step lift service, maintenance and
inspection compliance policy
Executive Summary
1.1

Adult Care owns a number of stairlifts, vertical lifts and step lifts, which have
been installed in the homes of service users through a disabled facilities grant
(DFG) to meet an assessed disability need.

1.2

Adult Care also manages the same types of equipment on behalf of Rochdale
Boroughwide Housing (RBH), which have been provided for their tenants with
an assessed disability need, but as they have been funded by RBH, they own
the lifts.

1.3

As RBC and RBH own assets of this type, there is a requirement to comply
with Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 (LOLER)
and the Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HSWA) section 3 (to provide
safe equipment and maintain it, so far as is reasonably practicable).

1.4

This report details the Rochdale Borough Council policy on stairlift, vertical
lift and step lift service, maintenance and compliance.
Recommendation

2.1

That the Stairlift, vertical lift and step lift service, maintenance and inspection
compliance policy is considered and approved.
Reason for Recommendation

3.1

The legislation and associated guidance, along with custom and practice
has determined how we have made decisions and delivered our obligations
and responsibilities for lift compliance in recent years.

Page 49

3.2

Following a recent review of lift compliance, it has been determined that a
formal approved policy is required to set out how we will meet our
responsibilities within the legislation governing this area.

3.3

The attached policy, has been developed to incorporate all aspects of
compliance for lifts, taking account of all related legislation, guidance,
policies, best practice and existing custom and practice.
Key Points for Consideration

4.1

LOLER and the HSWA requires all stairlifts, vertical lifts and steplifts to be
serviced and maintained in line with manufacturer’s recommendations and a
thorough examination must be undertaken at the appropriate intervals for the
particular equipment type, as detailed in the policy and summarised in the
following table:

Number of Service /inspections required
Lift type

Stairlift
Vertical Lift
Step Lift

Number of
Number of thorough
Service visits per examination
annum
inspections required
per annum
1
1
2 (6 monthly
2 (6 monthly
intervals)
intervals)
2 (6 monthly
2 (6 monthly
intervals)
intervals)

Total number of
visits per asset
per annum
2
4
4

Alternatives Considered
4.2

The alternative is to continue to have informal arrangements in place, which
wouldn’t be acceptable if we were subject to any investigation by the Health
and Safety Executive (HSE).
Costs and Budget Summary

5.1

Stairlifts, step lifts and vertical lifts are funded through the Disabled Facilities
grant programme, which is a capital grant from central government.

5.2

An established budget is in place for the annual costs of service and
maintenance.
Risk and Policy Implications

6.1

The policy sets out how we will meet our legal obligations in terms of
ownership of these types of asset. The risks to not having a formally
approved policy in place are significant, should there ever be an incident
which involves the Health and Safety Executive (HSE).

Page 50

6.2

An equality impact assessment screening has been undertaken on the policy,
as the majority of users are elderly or disabled, therefore, are more likely to be
affected by the policy. There are positive impacts for these protected groups
in that RBC provides ongoing maintenance and inspection of their lifts and
ensures all legislation is complied with. The only negative impacts on these
groups is in relation to having to facilitate access to their homes multiple times
each year for the service and inspection of their lift, but this is a legal
requirement to protect them.
Consultation

7.1

Consultation has been undertaken with staff from across Adult Care,
Children’s Social Care and Rochdale Boroughwide Housing. Their comments
and suggestions have been incorporated into the policy. The feedback has
been extremely positive in respect of having a formal policy in place. The
policy has also been reviewed by Legal Services and Finance and any
comments incorporated.

7.2

Whilst the policy as a whole document hasn’t been consulted on with service
users, some of the key elements, such as stairlift warranties have been part of
a number of wider public consultations previously. We also seek the views of
service users as detailed in the policy under section 15 – service standards
and customer satisfaction.

7.3

The policy has been written to formalise how we operate within the legal
framework governing these assets, which fundamentally must be in place to
meet the duty of RBC and RBH and ensure service users remain safe,
therefore, consultation is only relevant to the overall satisfaction of how the
various providers undertake the service, maintenance and inspection visits,
which is gathered on an ongoing basis and used as part of the contract
monitoring process.

7.4

There will be an annual review of the policy and customer feedback will be
used to inform and consider any appropriate or necessary changes.

8.

Background Papers
There are no background papers, all
relevant information is embedded in
the attached proposed policy
document.

For Further Information Contact:

Place of Inspection
Not applicable

Kathryn Andrew
Kathryn.andrew@rochdale.gov.uk
Tel: 01706 924057

Page 51

Stairlift, vertical lift
service, maintenance
and inspection
compliance
Policy

Page 52

Stairlift, vertical liftt and steplift service, maintenance and inspection compliance policy

Document Control
Document Title: Stairlift, vertical lift and steplift service,
maintenance and inspection compliance policy
Summary
Publication Date

July 2021




Related Legislation / Applicable Section
of Legislation

Related Policies, Strategies, Guideline
Documents











Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and
Wales) Order 2002
Housing Renewal Grants Regulations 1996 (as amended)
Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations
(LOLER) 1998
Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974
Care Act 2014
Equality Act 2010
Children Act 1989
Children and Families Act 2014
Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970
Adult Care Lift Compliance Procedure
Disabled Facilities Grants and Associated Assistance
Policy
Making Experiences Count - Joint Complaints Process for
Adult Care and Health policy

Replaces

n/a

Joint Policy (Yes/No)

Yes

Name of Partner(s) if joint




Adult Social Care
Children’s Social Care

Kathryn Andrew (Home Improvement Team Manager)

Policy Owner (Name/Position)

Deborah Monks (Home Improvement Team, Adult Care)

Policy Author (Name/Position)
Applies to

All staff in Adult Social Care and Children’s Social Care

Review of Strategy
Last Review Date

N/A

Review undertaken by

N/A

Next Review Date

August 2022

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 53

1

Stairlift, vertical liftt and steplift service, maintenance and inspection compliance policy

Document Approvals
This document requires the following approvals.
Name

Title

Date of Issue

Board Members

Editorial Board

Steven Blezard

Director of Operations,
Adult Care Services

Version Number

18 August 2021

Panel Members

Quarterly Practice
Assurance Panel

Cabinet Members

Cabinet

31 August 2021

Helen Murphy

Head of Governance &
Business Support

18 August 2021

Document version control
Date

Details of change

rochdale.gov.uk

Approver

Page 54

Version number

2

Stairlift, vertical liftt and steplift service, maintenance and inspection compliance policy

Contents
1. Executive summary
2. Introduction
3. Aims and objectives of the policy
4. Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 (LOLER)
5. Stairlifts - RBH and RBC (installed prior to 1/4/2013)
6. Stairlifts - RBC (installed after 1/4/2013)
7. Vertical lifts
8. Step lifts
9. Installation
10. Compliance
11. Non-compliance escalation
12. Removing the lifting equipment
13. In the event of equipment failure
14. Service standards and customer satisfaction
15. Data Protection Act 2018 and General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR)
16. Complaints
17. Policy Review
18. Glossary of Terms
19. Appendices

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 55

3

Stairlift, vertical liftt and steplift service, maintenance and inspection compliance policy

1. Executive Summary
1.1

This Policy (and associated procedure) sets out how Adult Social Care and Children’s Social Care
Services will facilitate the service, maintenance and statutory inspection regime of stairlifts, vertical
lifts and steplifts, which are owned by Rochdale Borough Council (RBC) or Rochdale Boroughwide
Housing (RBH) and have been provided to meet an assessed need of a disabled person.

1.2

It also details the escalation process in situations where the equipment has fallen outside the
prescribed timescales for service and/or inspection and therefore has become non-compliant.

1.3

The policy also covers the removal of equipment.

2. Introduction
2.1

This policy applies to stairlifts (with the exceptions detailed in section 6), vertical lifts and steplifts
which have been installed in the homes of service users through a Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG),
to meet an assessed disability need and the service user has signed the ownership back to RBC, to
be responsible for the maintenance and inspection regime.

2.2

RBC also manages the same types of equipment on behalf of RBH, which have been provided for
their tenants with an assessed disability need, but funded by RBH, therefore, are owned by RBH,
not RBC.

2.3

As RBC and RBH own assets of this type, there is a requirement for these assets to comply with
service, maintenance and inspection regimes, under a range of Health and Safety legislation as
detailed in section 4.

2.4

RBC and RBH are not responsible for any accident occurring from the use of equipment that has
been subject to any unauthorised modification, disassembly or repair by a third party, or which is
being used in a way, which does not adhere to manufacturers guidance, or by a person who has not
been assessed to use the lift.

3. Aims and objectives of the policy
3.1

To ensure all Health and Safety legislation and other legal and statutory requirements in relation to
service and maintenance of stairlifts, vertical lifts and steplifts in the ownership of RBH or RBC are
complied with.

3.2

To ensure that the elderly, vulnerable and disabled people provided with this type of equipment are
safe when using it.

3.3

To clarify the compliance requirements for these assets so that relevant information and support can
be provided to service users and staff.

3.4

To treat individuals fairly regardless of age, sex, gender, disability and sexual orientation, or any other
protected characteristic within the Equality and Diversity Policy and to protect their rights under Data
Protection and Human Rights legislation.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 56

4

Stairlift, vertical liftt and steplift service, maintenance and inspection compliance policy

4. Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998 (LOLER)
4.1

LOLER is aimed at ensuring that all lifting operations are properly planned, lifting equipment is used
in a safe manner and that, where necessary, it is thoroughly examined at suitable intervals by a
competent person.

4.2

To decide whether LOLER applies to an asset, there are 2 questions to consider; is it work equipment
and if so, is it lifting equipment. The fact that equipment is designed to lift or lower a load does not
automatically mean that LOLER applies. The equipment has to be defined as work equipment which
is defined in the Provision and Use of Work equipment regulations 1998 (PUWER) as any machinery
appliance, apparatus, tool or installation for use at work (whether exclusively or not). Comprehensive
HSE guidance on LOLER is at Appendix 1.

4.3

In health and social care settings, one of the main exceptions to LOLER being applicable will be where
equipment has been loaned or provided by an employer or community equipment provider for
individuals solely to be used by themselves, family or unpaid carers, as it is not defined as work
equipment during the loan period. Generally, this applies to stairlifts, as they are provided as an aid
to independence and will be operated by the service user themselves.

4.4

In these cases LOLER will not apply. However, in the latter case the more general duties under the
Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 (HSWA) section 3 (to provide safe equipment and maintain it, so
far as is reasonably practicable) will apply. To satisfy the requirements of the HSWA, a similar regime
of maintenance, inspection and examination to that required under LOLER may be considered
‘reasonably practicable’ in managing the risks.

4.5

LOLER and the HSWA requires all assets of this type to be serviced and maintained in line
with manufacturer’s recommendations and a thorough examination must be undertaken at
the appropriate intervals for the particular equipment type, detailed in Sections 5 to 8 below and
summarised in the following table:

Number of Service / inspections required
Lift type

Number of Service Number of thorough
& maintenance
examination
visits per annum
inspections required
per annum

Stairlift

1

1

Through Floor
Lift

2 (6 monthly
intervals)

2 (6 monthly intervals)

Step Lift

2 (6 monthly
intervals)

rochdale.gov.uk

2 (6 monthly intervals)

Page 57

Total number of
visits per asset

2

4

4

5

Stairlift, vertical liftt and steplift service, maintenance and inspection compliance policy

4.6

Thorough examinations are recommended to be carried out by a different contractor to the
service and maintenance provider, to ensure an appropriate level of independence and these
are currently undertaken by a specialist engineering company as part of RBC’s wider insurance
contract.

5. Stairlifts - RBC (installed prior to 1/4/2013) and RBH
5.1

Stairlifts installed prior to April 2013 through a DFG, are currently serviced and maintained through a
contract that Rochdale Council has with a specialist lift maintenance provider.

5.2

All stairlifts owned by RBH, are serviced and maintained through a contract that Rochdale Council
has with a specialist lift maintenance provider, unless they are within their warranty period, which
means they will be serviced by the specialist stairlift provider who installed the lift.

5.3

Both the specialist lift maintenance provider and the specialist stairlift provider undertake an annual
service and maintenance visit, which is in line with manufacturer’s guidelines.

5.4

As stairlifts are classed as lifting equipment under LOLER, but in most cases would not be considered
to be work equipment, a thorough examination isn’t required every 6 months. LOLER permits a
scheme of examination to be drawn up by a competent person as an alternative to the fixed maximum
periods and RBC have a written scheme in place, as per the legislation, which states an examination
is required on an annual basis. This is currently undertaken by a specialist engineering company as
part of RBC’s wider insurance contract.

6. Stairlifts RBC (installed after 1/4/2013)
6.1

Stairlifts installed after April 2013, were purchased with 5 year warranties and are owned by the
service user. The warranty is provided by the contracted provider of stairlifts. At the time of
installation, service users are advised of the warranty and provided with a copy of the manual from
the installer. Service users are also provided with a letter confirming their ownership/warranty and
advised that at the end of the warranty they will need to consider taking out an extended warranty or
a service and maintenance contract.

6.2

It is the service users’ responsibility to arrange for their annual service with the specialist provider
who installed the stairlift. The HIA does not have a legal or statutory duty to ensure the warranty
visits are undertaken on stairlifts owned by the service user and will not monitor service visits on
these assets. The specialist provider who installed the stairlift will send reminder letters for missed
visits and advise of the possibility of the warranty being void should regular servicing not take place.

6.3

At the end of the 5 year warranty period it is the responsibility of the service user to make
arrangements to either extend the warranty with the same provider, take up a private offer (preferential
rates) with the service and maintenance provider RBC have a contract with, or make their own
arrangements with another provider.

6.4

If the stairlift breaks down after the warranty has expired, the service user will be responsible for
arranging for a specialist maintenance provider to repair it. If the stairlift is deemed to be beyond

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 58

6

Stairlift, vertical liftt and steplift service, maintenance and inspection compliance policy
economical repair by a specialist provider and the service user still has an assessed need for the
stairlift, they can request an OT assessment and apply for a DFG for a replacement lift.
6.5

As owners, they have the responsibility of disposing of the lift when it is no longer needed, usually in
situations when the service user has died or moved to a different property. To ensure that lifts are
disposed of safely and recycled wherever possible, RBC will arrange for removal upon request, at no
cost to the service user, see section 12 for removal of equipment.

7. Vertical lifts
7.1

Vertical lift installations come with a 12 month manufacturer’s warranty. Due to the more complex
nature of a vertical lift and the increased level of risk with this type of lift compared to a stairlift, the
DFG applicant is given the option of signing the lift over to RBC, so that it can be serviced and
maintained throughout its useful life. The DFG applicant can choose not to sign the lift over to RBC
and take full responsibility for the service and maintenance, in line with regulations and guidance.

7.2

Vertical lifts require a service and maintenance visit on a 6 monthly basis and this is provided by RBC’s
contracted specialist service and maintenance provider, following the end of the 12 month
manufacturer’s warranty period.

7.3

Vertical lifts are covered by LOLER, although are not always work equipment as can be operated by
the service user. There are general HSWA requirements for vertical lifts, which are owned by RBC
or RBH, therefore, thorough examinations are undertaken on a 6 monthly basis, by a specialist
engineering provider, as part of RBC’s overall insurance contract.

8. Steplifts
8.1

Steplift installations come with a 12 month manufacturer’s warranty. Due to the more complex nature
of a steplift and the increased level of risk with this type of lift compared to a stairlift, the DFG applicant
is given the option of signing the lift over to RBC, so that it can be serviced and maintained throughout
its useful life. The DFG applicant can choose not to sign the lift over to RBC and take full responsibility
for the service and maintenance, in line with the regulations and guidance.

8.2

Steplifts require a service and maintenance visit on a 6 monthly basis and this is provided by RBC’s
contracted specialist service and maintenance provider, following the end of the 12 month
manufacturer’s warranty period.

8.3

Steplifts lifts are covered by LOLER, although are not always work equipment as can be operated
by the service user. There are general HSWA requirements for steplifts lifts, which are owned by
RBC or RBH, therefore, thorough examinations are undertaken on a 6 monthly basis, by a specialist
engineering provider, as part of RBC’s overall insurance contract.

9. Installation of equipment
9.1

Stairlifts, steplifts and vertical lifts are installed in line with the Disabled Facilities Grants and
Associated Assistance Policy (appendix 2).

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 59

7

Stairlift, vertical liftt and steplift service, maintenance and inspection compliance policy
9.2

Adult Care and Children’s Services within RBC will take all necessary steps to ensure, as far as
reasonably practicable, that all lifts are used safely, and that associated procedures comply with
applicable health and safety legislation and guidance, most notably:





9.3

Manual Handling Operations Regulations 1992
The Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations 1998
Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations (amended) 2003
Health and Safety at Work Act 1974

At the time of installation, service users are advised of the frequency of the service, maintenance
and inspection visits so that they understand their obligations and responsibilities to facilitate access
to their property. Also any requirements within their tenancy agreement if they are an RBH tenant.

10. Compliance – service, maintenance and thorough examinations/
inspection regime
10.1

The Home Improvement Agency (HIA) are responsible for recording and monitoring that all services
and inspections are being carried out during and after the warranty period for stairlifts, vertical lifts
and steplifts owned by RBC or RBH.

10.2

All lifts must be fit for use, and evidence of service history and maintenance records must be
available for inspection by the HSE should an incident ever occur.

10.3

If the service provider and/or the inspection provider is not granted access to the lift by the service
user, family or representative, which prevents the service/inspection from being carried out on the
lift, the provider will escalate the situation to RBC following the non-compliance escalation process
as detailed in section 11.

10.4

If any defects or repairs are identified during a call out or service visit, the maintenance provider will
carry out repairs, make safe for further repairs at a later date, or isolate the lift if identified as being
dangerous. If any defects or repairs are identified during an examination/inspection visit, the
provider will report them through the portal for the HIA to report to the service and maintenance
provider. Any concerns of immediate risk or safety, will be notified by telephone immediately to both
the HIA and maintenance provider and followed up with a report through the portal.

10.5

If any serious defect is detected by the service and maintenance provider or the inspection provider
which would compromise the safe operation of the equipment and cannot be immediately rectified,
the respective provider must take it out of service, isolate it, suitably label it to indicate that it must
not be used and report it to the HIA. See section 12 for more information.

11. Non-compliance escalation
11.1

All lifts will be scheduled for their service and inspection visits, 6 monthly, or annually by the
appropriate provider. It is the responsibility of the service / inspection provider to schedule the visit
directly with the service user, family or representative by letter or phone.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 60

8

Stairlift, vertical liftt and steplift service, maintenance and inspection compliance policy
11.2

If the provider is unable to gain access to the property to service or inspect the lift they will report the
non-compliance to the HIA.

11.3

Non-compliance can occur for a number of reasons, such as hospital admission, being away from
the property, but in rare cases, the service user is choosing not to engage with the inspection and
service regime. The HIA Lifting Equipment & Compliance team will work with the relevant provider,
service user or their representative to establish reasons for non-compliance and make best
endeavours to complete the visits, following the non-compliance escalation process (appendix 3).
The HIA will continue to try to gain access, by letter and telephone, or in some cases, contact with
the landlord. In situations where contact can’t be made, or the service user is refusing access, a
referral will be made to the appropriate locality team to carry out a capacity assessment to ensure
the service user is able to make decisions about access and understands the implications. At the
end of the process, the case will be reported to the Practice Assurance Board and legal advice
taken.

11.4

For RBH properties, non-compliance is reported on a monthly basis on a dashboard and they will
support with non-compliance in line with their own risk management requirements.

12. Removing the equipment
12.1

When any lifting equipment is no longer needed, usually because the service user has died or
moved to another property, the HIA will arrange for removal of the lift at no cost to the service user.
Stairlifts which have been installed as part of a DFG, but are owned by the service user can also be
removed free of charge, to ensure they are recycled or disposed of safely.

12.2

The HIA team can only arrange removals for lifts in RBH properties once permission from RBH has
been received.

12.3

The HIA will arrange lift removals with the appropriate provider, with a Technical Officer overseeing
the process for step lifts and vertical lifts, as additional building works are required to reinstate
ceilings and floors, or external steps/access.

12.4

Once the lift has been removed, the provider will be responsible for ensuring that the property is
reinstated and left in a safe condition. Reinstatement works will be the most simple and cost
effective option and will not include decorating, or replacement of floor coverings which may be
required as a result of removing the equipment.

13. In the event of equipment failure
13.1

The maintenance provider is responsible for repairing lifts which are not working, within the agreed
financial limits of the contract. If the costs exceed this upper limit which is £250, a quote will be
provided so that the HIA can determine whether it is cost effective for the lift to be repaired. If it is
deemed to be beyond economical repair, the HIA will advise the service user and arrange for a reassessment of their by an OT. The OT will undertake a duty call to assess the safety of the service
user in the interim whilst a new lift is sourced. Downstairs living may be recommended during this
time.

13.2

If the maintenance provider becomes aware of an incident caused by equipment failure which has
resulted in a near miss or an accident or injury, they must take the equipment out of use

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 61

9

Stairlift, vertical liftt and steplift service, maintenance and inspection compliance policy
immediately and notify the HIA as soon as practicably possible, but no later than the same working
day of the incident.
13.3

Following such a report, the HIA will complete the RBC Accident Reporting process – http://roc-mpswww44/IncidentReporting/

14. Service standards and customer satisfaction
14.1

All lifts will be serviced and maintained as detailed in the previous sections of this policy.

14.2

Service users have joint responsibility with RBC to ensure that lifts owned by RBC or RBH are
serviced and maintained and that LOLER inspections are carried out. Failing to grant access to the
lift when service/inspection is required will result in the escalation process being applied, as detailed
in section 11.

14.3

Customer satisfaction levels are monitored to determine overall levels of satisfaction with the
various service providers and any identified unsatisfactory standards will be investigated and dealt
with through the contract management process.

14.4

The LOLER and PUWER regulations are intended to ensure that all lifting equipment and lifting
operations are safe and carried out by competent staff. These requirements are statutory duties
and service users will be regularly advised of their responsibilities and the risks of non-compliance.

15. Data Protection Act 2018 and General Data Protection Regulations
(GDPR)
15.1

As part of the lift management process, information is collected to assist with managing the asset
and is covered under the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation
(GDPR).

15.2

A Privacy Notice applies to this area of work and the information collected is:
 Name of applicant
 Address of applicant
 Contact details including land line, mobile phone and email details of applicant and any
person nominated as a point of contact
 Housing status – owner-occupier/owner/private rented/social rented
 Name and contact details for landlord and/or landlords agent

15.3

As part of the process, information will need to be shared with other organisations, as follows:
 Adult Social Care
 Children’s Services
 Registered Social Housing Providers
 Contractors engaged for the purpose of servicing, maintaining or inspecting the asset (only
limited information will be shared with contractors, which are essential for the purposes of
carrying out works.

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 62

10

Stairlift, vertical liftt and steplift service, maintenance and inspection compliance policy
15.4

As part of the asset management process, photographs/videos of the internal and external parts of
the property and the asset may be taken. Verbal permission will be requested from the applicant
and no photographs will be taken of the service user, or any other person. Photographs will be
stored securely, in the electronic asset record and destroyed in line with the retention policy.

16. Complaints
16.1

All complaints about any element of the Adult Social Care and the Children’s Social Care Service will
initially be dealt with informally, in line with Making Experiences Count - Joint Complaints Process for
Adult Care and Health policy. Whilst the complaint may be about a part of the service delivered by
one of our contracted providers, Rochdale Council will co-ordinate the investigation and response.

16.2

Following an informal investigation, if the complainant remains dissatisfied, they can make a formal
complaint, which will be dealt with under the Adult Care Complaints policy. Further details of how to
complain and the process can be found on the Rochdale Council website using the following link
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/contact-us/complaints-andcompliments/Pages/complaints-procedure.aspx

16.3

If, following the outcome of the complaint, the complainant remains dissatisfied, they can contact the
Local Government Ombudsman (LGO). The LGO would expect the complainant to have used the
Council complaints process in the first instance, before they will investigate further. Details of the LGO
can be found in the above link.

17. Policy Review
17.1

This policy will be reviewed annually or where legislation or case law dictates

18. Glossary of Terms
HSE - Health and Safety Executive
LOLER - Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations 1998
Maintenance - Actions necessary for retaining or restoring equipment to the specified operable
condition to achieve its maximum useful life and compensating for normal wear and tear. It includes
corrective maintenance and preventive maintenance.
PUWER - The Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations
RBC – Rochdale Borough Council
OT - Occupational Therapist
HIA - Home Improvement Agency
DFG - Disabled Facilities Grants
rochdale.gov.uk

Page 63

11

Stairlift, vertical liftt and steplift service, maintenance and inspection compliance policy
Thorough Examination - Is a systematic and detailed examination of the equipment and safety-critical
parts, carried out at specified intervals by a competent person who must then complete a written report

19. Appendices
Appendix 1

HSE guidance on LOLER

Appendix 2

Disabled Facilities Grants and Associated
Assistance Policy

Appendix 3

https://www.hse.gov.uk/workequipmentmachinery/loler.htm
Disabled Facilities
Grants and Associated Assistance Policy.docx

Non-compliance escalation process
No Access
Escalation Process vesion 2.docx

rochdale.gov.uk

Page 64

12

Stairlift, vertical liftt and steplift service, maintenance and inspection compliance policy

Rochdale Borough Council
Number One Riverside
Smith Street
Rochdale OL16 1YH
rochdale.gov.uk
01706 647474
council@rochdale.gov.uk
rochdale.gov.uk

Page 65

13

Agenda Item 9
Report to Cabinet
Date of Meeting
Portfolio
Report Author
Public/Private Document

31 August 2021
Cabinet Member for
Highways and Housing
Alex Whittaker
Public

Castleton BeeNetwork (Phase 2) Development Cost
Executive Summary
1.

Officers from Rochdale Borough Councils Highways Service have been
developing a package of works to connect Castleton station to Rochdale town
centre via active forms of travel. The proposals form part of the Council’s
approved Rochdale Transport Delivery Plan which set out plans to develop a
network of active travel corridors to promote sustainable modes of travel and
support economic growth.
The first phase of works is developed significantly, the extent of this scheme
is between Castleton Station and The Royal Toby on the A-664 Manchester
Road.
The second phase of works commences form this point, directly to Rochdale
town centre. Rochdale Borough Council have programme entry status of
£10,700,000.00 awarded via Transport for Greater Manchester as part of the
Mayors Challenge Fund.
In order to deliver a scheme of this scale, development funds are made
available, in order to design a scheme and gain Full Business Case approval
prior to on site delivery.
This report requests that Cabinet accept a development cost grant of
£756, 200.00 in order for Rochdale Borough Council to resource the project
sufficiently in the development stage.
Recommendation

2.

This report seeks confirmation from Cabinet that Rochdale Borough Council
is able to receive external funding grant at a total of £756,200.00 to develop
a significant scheme aimed at active travel.

Page 66

Reason for Recommendation
3.

Rochdale Borough Councils Highways Service has produced this report as
the external Grant funding exceeds £500,000 therefore a delegated decision
is not possible.
Key Points for Consideration

4.

At this stage key point for consideration is approval of the grant funding
amount of £756, 200.00.
If cabinet accept this grant funding, officers from Rochdale Borough Councils
Highways Service will work with local Elected Members and other key
stakeholders to ensure of a robust final detailed scheme for delivery.

4.1

Alternatives Considered
No alternatives have been considered, without the development cost funding
there is no budget to progress this scheme.
Costs and Budget Summary

5.

The budget for development costs is a total of £750,000.00 a breakdown of
these costs has been developed with Transport for Greater Manchester to
ensure a robust Full Business Case can be submitted to gain final approval
for delivery.
Project manager/project controls, scheduling etc
Finance/Legal/Procurement support etc
Community engagement/comms/consultations/publicity etc
Designer/engineer/planner etc
Site investigation
Specialist consultants
TfGM Gateway Review Process
Outline & Full Business Case
Transport for Greater Manchester -Traffic control design
Full Business Case Support
Sustainable Journeys engagement activity
Baseline Monitoring and Evaluation
Contingency
Total

Page 67

£40,000.00
£20,000.00
£16,000.00
£120,000.00
£350,000.00
£20,000.00
£10,000.00
£24,000.00
£56,200.00
£50,000.00
£5,000.00
£15,000.00
£30,000.00
£756,200.00

Risk and Policy Implications
6.

Without approval from Cabinet for £756,200.00 Rochdale Borough Councils
Highways Service is unable to develop the proposed scheme, this places
the programme entry funding allocation (£10,700,000.00) at risk.
There are no policy implications, all schemes proposed as part of the Active
Travel fund will be in line with policy adopted in Rochdale Borough Councils
Core Strategy. (Improving accessibility and delivering sustainable
transport SO5)

Consultation
7.

To date there has been no public consultation on the second phase of works
from The Royal Toby to Rochdale town centre.
The £756,200.00 development funding will provide the opportunity for
significant public consultation methods, along with continued local Elected
Member engagement.

Background Papers

Place of Inspection

8.

and the place of inspection
(N1Riverside or elsewhere) – Note: will
insert guidance on what is a
background paper

Here you should detail any
background papers –

For Further Information Contact:

Alex Whittaker, ,
alex.whittaker@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 68

Agenda Item 10
Report to Cabinet
Date of Meeting
Portfolio
Report Author
Public/Private Document

31 August 2021
Cabinet Member for
Climate Change and
Sustainability
Alex Whittaker
Public

Active Travel Fund
Executive Summary
1.

In support of the GM 2040 Transport Strategy and Delivery Plans, the Greater
Manchester Combined Authority has been successfully awarded funding from
the Department for Transport Active Travel Fund to support a GM pipeline of
schemes to promote walking and cycling. Rochdale Borough Councils
Highway’s Service has proposed a package of works which has been
supported by Transport for Greater Manchester for allocation of this funding
to be spent by the end of March 2022.
The external funding grant is a total of £915,000
If this external funding grant is approved by cabinet, the expenditure will be
used to deliver projects as part of the Active Travel Fund.
The aim of Active Travel Fund is to try and embed walking and cycling as part
of long-term commuting habits to secure the associated health, air quality and
congestion benefits. (In the short-term this may also help avoid overcrowding
on public transport as the economy restarts).
Officers from the highways service are undertaking consultation exercises
with associated Elected Members, as scheme proposals develop there is
funding included within the grant to complete public consultation where
required with all key stakeholders.
Further bids for subsequent rounds of the Active Travel Fund are being
prepared to support Rochdale projects. Discussions are also taking place
with Government to secure a longer term GM transport settlement to support
the delivery of active travel projects.
Recommendation

Page 69

2.

This report seeks confirmation from Cabinet that Rochdale Borough Council
is able to receive external funding grant at a total of £915,000
Reason for Recommendation

3.

Rochdale Borough Councils Highways Service has produced this report as
the external Grant funding exceeds £500,000 and require approval from
Cabinet as per the scheme of delegation.
This will enable development of the work package, with a view to delivering
works on site before the 31/03/2022.
Key Points for Consideration

4.

At this stage key point for consideration is approval of the grant funding
amount of £915,000.00. Officers from the highways service are undertaking
consultation exercises with associated Elected Members, as scheme
proposals develop there is funding included within the grant to complete public
consultation where required with all key stakeholders.

4.1

Alternatives Considered
There are no alternative considerations.

Page 70

5.

Costs and Budget Summary
The Active Travel Grant Funding of £915,000 is split between capital and
revenue funding.
Capital Funding: £910, 000.00 Revenue Funding: £5,000.00
Officers from the Highways Service have agreed a final scheme in Middleton
at St Leonards Street/Church Brow. A Prohibition of Driving Traffic Regulation
Order will be introduced, with physical measures to block access for motorists.
After site clearance the existing surface will be renewed, public realm
enhancements and street furniture will also be introduced. Following this the
street space will be offered to active forms of travel only. Officers have
developed this scheme with local Elected Members and other key
stakeholders who all offer full support, this includes local residents. This part
of the network is within a historic part of the town and is within Middleton’s
conservation area. The current budget estimate is £220, 000.00.
The additional £690,000 capital budget will be utilised to deliver other active
travel projects in other areas of the borough. Officers from the Highways
Service are working closely with elected members and other key stakeholders
to develop packages of work with a target date for completion of 31/03/2022.
As scheme proposals develop, where required prior to on site delivery
extensive consultation with key defined stakeholders will be undertaken via
the Active Travel fund. This is likely to be in the form of letter drops and online
information which is made available for the public to view and provide
feedback.

Page 71

Risk and Policy Implications
6.

Without approval from Cabinet Rochdale Borough Councils Highways
Service is unable to programme works for site delivery, this could impact the
target completion date of 31/03/2022. As a result this would place risk on the
external grant funding allocation.
There are no policy implications, all schemes proposed as part of the Active
Travel fund will be in line with policy adopted in Rochdale Borough Councils
Core Strategy. (Improving accessibility and delivering sustainable
transport SO5) , GM 2040 Transport Strategy and the adopted Rochdale
Transport Delivery Plan.

Consultation
7.

To date officers from the Highways Service has hosted a series of working
group meetings with a view to agreeing schemes to deliver as part of the
Active Travel Fund, this has included local Elected Members and external
delivery partners.
As scheme proposals develop, where required prior to on site delivery
extensive consultation with key defined stakeholders will be undertaken via
the Active Travel fund. This is likely to be in the form of letter drops and
online information which is made available for the public to view and provide
feedback.
Schemes also require formal consultation as part of the Road Traffic
Regulation Act as the works require Traffic Regulation Orders.

Background Papers

Place of Inspection

8.

and the place of inspection
(N1Riverside or elsewhere) – Note: will
insert guidance on what is a
background paper

Here you should detail any
background papers –

For Further Information Contact:

Alex Whittaker, ,
alex.whittaker@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 72

Agenda Item 11
Report to Cabinet
Date of Meeting
Portfolio
Report Author
Public/Private Document

31st August 2021
Cabinet Member for
Economy and
Communications
Nick Barton
Public

Hopwood Hall - Historic England Repair Grant for Heritage at Risk
Executive Summary
1.1

Hopwood Hall is a grade II* listed manorial hall in Council ownership. A grant
has been secured from Historic England of £368,294 towards eligible works
of £460,367 to carry out repairs to the building. This report seeks authority to
accept this grant.
Recommendation

2.1

It is recommended that Cabinet agrees to accept the grant funding offer from
Historic England.

2.2

Authorise the Director of Economy to accept the grant on behalf of the
Council.

2.3

Authorise the Assistant Director, Legal, Governance & Workforce to
undertake any legal work on behalf of the Council to ensure that the grant
funding offer from Historic England is obtained.
Reason for Recommendation

3.1

The acceptance of grant funding requires Cabinet approval.

3.2

Approval to accept this grant funding offer will enable the Council to carry out
extensive repair works to Hopwood Hall, a grade II* listed building in the
Council’s ownership, assisting in the viability of proposals for the sustainable
reuse of the building.

3.3

As the owner of the listed building, the Council has a legal obligation to ensure
that the property is adequately maintained.

Page 73

4.

Key Points for Consideration
Hopwood Hall is a grade II* listed manorial hall. A largely 17th and 18th century
building, incorporating parts of a medieval open-hall timber-framed structure.
As a grade II* listed building, it is recognised as being amongst some of the
most important listed buildings in the country.

4.1

Originally the home of the Hopwood family, it was sold to the Lancashire
Cotton Corporation shortly after the First World War. Following World War the
hall was sold to a trust, under which it became a training college for teachers
under the De La Salle Brothers.

4.2

The hall came in to the ownership of the Council as a consequence of
education reforms in 1989, with the surrounding land and buildings being
transferred out of Council ownership upon the incorporation of Hopwood Hall
College in 1992. Whilst some educational uses continued in the hall until 1993
and has not been in use since this time.

4.3

Both the Council and Hopwood Hall College have previously developed
proposals for alternative uses for the hall, including as corporate
headquarters, residential and hotel. However, these proposals have not
progressed largely due to the high cost of repair of the hall creating what is
known as a conservation deficit, meaning that cost of repair and conversion is
significantly more than the end value of the property.

4.4

In 2017, the Council entered in to an option agreement with Hopwood
DePree, an American descendant of the Hopwood family. The agreement
gives Mr DePree the option to acquire the hall from the Council if he can meet
conditions including securing listed building consent for the repair of the
building and demonstrating a viable business case. The agreement expires in
July 2022.

4.5

The Council have worked with Historic England to secure funding for repairs
to the hall including, jointly funding a £276,000 programme of repairs, which
included significant roof repairs, structural works and leaded window
reinstatement. This work has been complemented by further works by
Hopwood DePree and the Friends of Hopwood Hall Estate.

4.6

As a result of recent discussions with Historic England, an offer of further
funding of £368,294 (Heritage at Risk grant) has been made, against eligible
works of £460,367, requiring Council match funding of £92,073. The match
funding requirement can be met from existing Capital Programme budgets
allocated to Hopwood Hall.

4.7

These works would support the continued reversal of decay of the building
and further reduce the conservation deficit associated with the building,
increasing the viability of securing a beneficial future use.
Alternatives Considered

4.8

The Council is not obliged to carry out all of the works identified within this
grant offer and could choose to carry out more selective repairs and

Page 74

maintenance in order to meet its minimum legal requirements to maintain the
building. However, this is unlikely to offer value for money, due to both the
level of grant funding available and the likelihood of increased costs if works
are not carried out in the near future. Additionally, the opportunity to
significantly reduce the conservation deficit would be lost.
Costs and Budget Summary
5.1

The Historic England grant is in two parts:
 A project development grant of £24,553 against estimated costs of
£30,691 for engagement of a conservation architect and associated
professional services to design the scheme and tender a repairs
contract.
 A repairs grant of £343,741 against estimated costs of £429,676 for
works including repairs to roofs of the Library, Oak Room, Spere Truss
Room, Georgian Room, Long Corridor and Courtyard Bay, Edwardian
West Wing and Victorian South section plus elevation repairs including
brick repairs, lime mortar works and lead flashing repairs in addition to
other miscellaneous works and a continuation of the leaded window
repair programme. Including scaffolding, overhead and contingency.

5.2

Project management costs related to delivery of the scheme by the Council’s
Capital Projects Team are included in the eligible costs.
The Council contribution of £92,073 can be met from existing 2021/2022
Capital Programme allocations associated with Hopwood Hall.
Risk and Policy Implications

Page 75

6.1

Risks relating to the decay and loss of an important heritage asset are
mitigated through acceptance of this grant and carrying out the associated
repairs.

6.2

Risks associated with costs exceeding estimated costs are mitigated by a
two stage development and delivery process and through a robust project
management process.

6.3

Policy P2 of Rochdale’s Core Strategy identifies that enhancing and
protecting the borough's unique character can lead to improvements in
quality of life and can also help to boost the visitor economy and inward
investment. Stating that we should prioritise the conservation of heritage
assets at risk from decay, giving special attention to designated heritage
assets in this regard.

6.4

Property ownership and property development carries risks of expenditure
on liabilities, health and safety/statutory responsibilities. There is a risk that
by not carrying out the types of works detailed in this report the Council is
unnecessarily exposed to risk that may result in financial and reputational
damage.

6.5

Section 1 of the Local Government Act 2003 gives a local authority a power
to borrow money for any purpose relevant to its functions under any
enactment or for the purposes of prudent management of its financial
affairs provided it does not exceed its affordable borrowing limit.

6.6

Councils also have a general power to borrow under the General Power of
Competence in section 1 of the Localism Act 2011. It gives local authorities
the legal capacity to do anything that an individual can do that is not
specifically prohibited. The general power gives councils more freedom to
be more creative in the way it delivers services and to bring about
innovative things to meet local people’s needs.

Consultation
7.1

Middleton Township members are provided with regular updates regarding
Hopwood Hall and are support of the approach of seeking external funding
to carry out repairs to the hall.

Background Papers
8.1

Place of Inspection

There are no background
papers.

For Further Information Contact:

Nick Barton, Tel: 01706924847,
nick.barton@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 76

Agenda Item 12
Report to Cabinet
Date of Meeting
Portfolio
Report Author
Public/Private Document

31st August 2021
Children’s Services and
Education
Monitoring Officer
Public

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman
Finding of Fault by the Council
Executive Summary
1.

To advise members of the findings of the Local Government and Social Care
Ombudsman (LG&SCO) issued on 7th April 2021. The LG&SCO summarised
that: “Miss X complains that the Council failed to provide financial support
when she agreed to accommodate a child. She says its communication and
complaint handling were poor. The Council has agreed it is at fault and has
caused injustice. It has agreed a financial remedy and service reviews”.
Recommendation

2.

That Cabinet note that the agreed financial remedy and service reviews have
been completed, leading to the LG&SCO to conclude in writing on 2nd August
2021 that a compliance outcome has been recorded, with the outcome of
Remedy complete and satisfied.
Cabinet also note that lessons learnt are being embedded to prevent further
re-occurrence.
Reason for Recommendation

3.

Cabinet is legally required to consider the LG&SCO findings, actions and
outcomes. In this case the Council, having considered the LG&SCO
representations on a number of points, reviewed its paperwork and swiftly
concluded it was at fault and proposed a remedy. In the interests of open and
transparent governance Cabinet are required to receive information about the
complaint and remedy, to ensure in so far as is possible, that a similar
situation does not re-occur in future.

Page 77

Key Points for Consideration
4.

The Council’s Monitoring Officer is required (in accordance with section 5A of
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989) to report an LG&SGO finding of
fault causing injustice on the part of the Council.

4.1

Two Acts of Parliament govern the actions the Council must now take in
Response to the LG&SGO report. They are the Housing and Local
Government Act 1989 (the 1989 Act), which sets out the Monitoring Officer’s
responsibility to report and the Cabinet’s corresponding duties and the Local
Government Act 1972 (the 1972 Act) which addresses the duty to advertise the
LGO&SCO’s findings and other related matters.

4.2

There is no decision to be made by Cabinet, since the Council’s proposed
remedy has been accepted by the LG&SCO who is satisfied that the remedy
is complete.
Background

4.3

The LG&SCO investigated a complaint by Miss X who said that “the Council
wrongly characterised her agreement to accommodate a child (in May 2017) as
a private fostering arrangement. Miss X did not receive financial help with the
child’s care, putting her family finances under strain, which affected her own
four young children. She said the Council’s communication and complaints
handling have been poor”.

4.4

The facts of the LG&SCO’s investigation and their analysis are set out in their
report dated 7th April 2021 (Appendix 1).

4.5

It is noteworthy that the Council sought clarification about the role of the
LG&SCO investigating this complaint, however, at no point did they stop
considering the concerns. From the outset, the Assistant Director felt the
Council may have caused Miss X an injustice

4.6

In finding fault with the Council, the LG&SCO identified that the Council should
have communicated effectively with Miss X regarding her complaint, and also
should have provided an interpreter, when her English was insufficient to grasp
the significance of the legal arrangements.

4.7

The LG&SCO concluded that: “After my discussions with the Council, it swiftly
accepted my jurisdiction over the complaint and that it is at fault and has caused
injustice to Miss X. It said it “apologised unreservedly” to Miss X for what had
happened and was keen to put things right. It met with Miss X to discuss its
proposed remedy. This is good practice and meant Miss X has been given
certainty over her finances without protracted negotiations”.

4.8

At the meeting with Miss X, the Council agreed to make a payment of
£22,114.86 as back-payment for missed fostering allowances between 2017

Page 78

and 2020, minus any tax credits received by Miss X. It also agreed a £322 back
payment of holiday allowance. Finally, it also proposed post-18 support for D,
depending on further discussions with Miss X and D, as well as £500 for Miss
X’s time and trouble. The Council has said it will review all Child Arrangement
Orders made since May 2017 to determine if other carers may have
experienced detriment and establish whether there are training deficits. It will
also review the circumstances in which the Council decided not to proceed with
Miss X’s request for her complaint to be considered under Stage 2”.
4.9

In their letter to the Chief Executive accompanying their final report on 7th April
2021, the LG&SCO thanked the Council “for frankness and candour and your
swift response to resolving this complaint.”
Actions taken to remedy the injustice

4.10

The LG&SCO made five recommendations to be implemented within one
month of the final decision:
a) Pay Miss X £22,114.86 as back-payment missed fostering allowances
between 2017 and 2020, minus any tax credits received by Miss X;
b) Pay Miss X £322 back-payment for holiday allowance;
c) Pay Miss X £500 reflecting the financial strain arising from the Council’s fault
and for her time and trouble in bringing the complaint.
Payments for b) and c) were made within one month as agreed. Payments of
a) were made by 24th May 2021, after considerable work with Miss X and the
HMRC to determine the amount payable.
d) Review all Child Arrangement Orders made since May 2017;

4.11

This in-depth work took a considerable period of time. Firstly reviewing 301 sets
of private law proceedings, the Council clarified that there were 23 Child
Arrangement Orders made to none parents. Each case was thoroughly audited
by a senior children’s social care manager, independently employed to
undertake this work and a lawyer, also with no previous knowledge of any of
the cases. This review concluded on 28th July. There is one case where
remediation actions are being implemented in line with the LG&SCO findings.

4.12

Training has been provided for all Senior Managers which is due to be rolled
out to all front line managers in September 2021. This training takes account of
the most recent case law, so that managers and practitioners can determine
the difference between family arrangements and those circumstances where
the duty to accommodate a child is triggered (Section 20 Children Act 1989)

Page 79

e) Review its decisions not to proceed with complaint escalation requests
since May 2017.
4.13

During this period there were a total of twenty six complaints into Children’s
Services where escalation was requested; twenty of which were escalated. The
six complaints where escalation was requested and did not proceed have been
reviewed.

4.14

Four of the six cases related to active cases before the Family Court where
parents were represented in legal proceedings. Parents were appropriately
referred to their legal team. The organisational learning from these cases is that
they should not have been regarded as Stage 1 complaints.

4.15

Two of the six complaint escalation requests were from a prospective foster
carer and an existing foster carer, in 2017 and 2018, where their request to
escalate their complaint to the next level of investigation was not agreed. The
letters explaining why this was refused included details of the Local
Government Ombudsman, with advice about how to proceed should the
complainant wish to make further representation. In retrospect, both complaints
should have been escalated within the Corporate Complaints procedure.

4.16

Informed by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s most recent
publication Children’s Statutory Complaints Process (March 2021), this learning
has been implemented.
Costs and Budget Summary

5.

The costs incurred in making a back-payment to Miss X for missed fostering
allowances, including a holiday allowance and a time and trouble payment
were met from the Fostering Allowances budget. This was a single payment
made within the delegated authority of the Children’s Services Directorate.
This process will also apply to the single case identified through the auditing
process should any financial remediation be required.
Risk and Policy Implications

6.

The two service reviews, covering a period of four years from May 2017 and
resultant actions, will considerably reduce the risk of a similar situation
occurring in future.

Consultation
7.

There has been widespread consultation within Children’s Social Care about
the findings from the LG&SCO to ensure that lessons are learnt.

Page 80

Background Papers

Attachment

8.

Appendix 1

Local Government and Social
Care Ombudsman Final
Decision – 7th August 2021

For Further Information Contact:

Final decision.pdf

Asif Ibrahim
asif.ibrahim@rochdale.gov.uk
Julia Hassall
Julia.hassall@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 81

7 April 2021
Complaint reference:
20 005 610
Complaint against:
Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council

The Ombudsman’s final decision
Summary: Miss X complains that the Council failed to provide
financial support when she agreed to accommodate a child. She says
its communication and complaint handling were poor. The Council has
agreed it is at fault and has caused injustice. It has agreed a financial
remedy and service reviews.

The complaint
1.

The complainant, who I refer to here as Miss X, says the Council wrongly
characterised her agreement to accommodate a child as a private fostering
arrangement. Miss X did not receive financial help with the child’s care, putting
her family finances under strain, which affected her own four young children. She
says the Council’s communications and complaints handling have been poor.

What I have investigated
2.

I have investigated the Council’s actions since Miss X began caring for the child in
2017.

The Ombudsman’s role and powers
3.

We investigate complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service failure’. In this
statement, I have used the word fault to refer to these. We must also consider
whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making the
complaint. I refer to this as ‘injustice’. If there has been fault which has caused an
injustice, we may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and 26A(1),
as amended)

4.

We cannot investigate late complaints unless we decide there are good reasons.
Late complaints are when someone takes more than 12 months to complain to us
about something a council has done. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26B and 34D, as
amended)

5.

If we are satisfied with a council’s actions or proposed actions, we can complete
our investigation and issue a decision statement. (Local Government Act 1974, section
30(1B) and 34H(i), as amended)

How I considered this complaint
6.

I spoke to Miss X and to the Council and I considered information provided by
both parties. I have shared my draft statement with Miss X and the Council and
considered their comments before finalising my decision.

Page 82

1

What I found
7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

Private fostering arrangements
A private fostering arrangement is one that is made privately (without the
involvement of a local authority) for the care of a child under the age of 16 years
by someone other than a parent or close relative, in their own home, with the
intention that it should last for 28 days or more.
A Child Arrangements Order is a legal order under which the court decides either
where a child will live or who a child can spend time with and for how long.
What happened
Miss X, who has four young children, had a friend, M, whose 15-year old
daughter, D, stayed at her home occasionally. Miss X’s first language is not
English.
In May 2017 Miss X’s friend went missing, abandoning her children. D went to
stay with Miss X while her younger siblings were accommodated by a relative.
When the Council made contact with M it asked her to allow the children to
remain where they were. The Council’s paperwork states M initially agreed to this
but also records that M disputed this a month later. In any event, after a month M
asked for the children to be returned home. D, who had been happy to stay with
Miss X, also asked to return home, but the Council asked her to remain with Miss
X temporarily.
Despite M’s lack of consent, the Council categorised the situation as a private
fostering arrangement. In July the Council began discussions about long-term
arrangements for all the children. Documents provided by the Council noted that
D was not in a private fostering arrangement as M did not consent to it. The
documents also said the children’s relative was to be advised to seek legal
advice, but they made no mention of legal advice for Miss X.
Miss X advised the Council she was struggling for money. The Council assisted
her to obtain tax credits and benefits for D, which had previously been paid to M.
The Council felt D needed legal stability and that Miss X should hold parental
responsibility for her. It recommended a Child Arrangement Order be made in
respect of D.
By the end of 2017 the Council had completed a private fostering assessment of
Miss X. The assessment records that Miss X describes herself as “financially
struggling”. An interim Child Arrangement Order was then made in respect of D.
Miss X was not a party to the court proceedings. Before the proceedings
concluded the Council advised Miss X to seek legal advice and offered to pay for
this but she did not take up the offer.
In late 2019 Miss X learned that D’s siblings had moved from their relative’s care
and were now being looked after by a foster carer, who was receiving a fostering
allowance. She complained to the Council about the lack of financial support
offered to her. She said she planned to apply for a bank loan to pay for furniture
for her children and that she was not being listened to or helped by D’s social
worker.
Miss X then approached a Citizen’s Advice Bureau (CAB). It helped her draft a
formal complaint about lack of financial assistance, which she sent to the Council
in February 2020. The Council’s response said: “D was already in your care as a
private family arrangement prior to the Local Authority issuing care proceedings…
you were never assessed or approved as a foster carer and therefore the local
Final decision

Page 83

2

authority would not provide financial support.” It said D’s care was a “private
arrangement between yourself and the child’s mother”. It also said if Miss X was
suffering from financial hardship it was her responsibility to make that known to
D’s social worker at the time.
16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

Miss X asked for her complaint to be investigated at Stage 2 of the Children’s
Social Care complaints procedure. The Council declined this request on the basis
that the outcome she sought was unachievable and that nothing could be
achieved by investigating further.
Miss X took her complaint to us. She told me D was not living with her prior to the
Council’s involvement. She said that she had not been involved in the Child
Arrangement Order application and had relied on the social worker’s version of
events. She said that she did not understand the legal or financial significance of
a private fostering arrangement.
From speaking to Miss X it was clear to me that her command of the English
language was insufficient for her to grasp legal technicalities. Miss X told me she
had not realised that she may be entitled to an allowance to help care for D until
2019. She told me on receiving advice from the CAB she felt the Council had
“tricked” her.
In response to my enquiries the Council challenged my jurisdiction to investigate
on the basis that the key decisions on D’s accommodation had been made in
2017 and 2018, which meant Miss X’s complaint was made too late. It also
suggested the Ombudsman had no jurisdiction as the matter had been the
subject of court proceedings. It said D was legally represented during the
application for the Care Order and that D’s guardian had met D for discussions
beforehand and had confirmed that D was being cared for under a private
fostering arrangement. The Council also told me in its view Miss X spoke very
good English. It could find no evidence an interpreter had been provided at any
point.
Having considered my representations on these points the Council then reviewed
the paperwork, swiftly concluded it was at fault and proposed a remedy.
Analysis
It is clear from the paperwork provided by the Council that Miss X only became
aware of a potential entitlement to a fostering allowance in autumn 2019. Having
waited for a response from the Council to an informal complaint, she then sought
advice from a CAB and submitted a formal complaint. When the Council’s
processes were exhausted, she complained promptly to us. In my view the
complaint was not made late, despite the fact the substantive events occurred in
2017 and 2018.
Miss X was not a party to the Court proceedings. In my view the complaint is
within jurisdiction, and not affected by the legal proceedings which took place.
The paperwork makes clear that D was not accommodated under a private
fostering arrangement. D had been cared for by Miss X for a month after which
Miss X made clear she did not consent to D remaining there. D herself expressed
a clear wish to return to her mother’s care at around the same time but agreed to
remain at the Council’s request. Miss X was effectively an unpaid foster carer for
D. This is fault by the Council.

Final decision

Page 84

3

24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

The Council did not provide Miss X with an interpreter, when her English was
insufficient to grasp the significance of legal arrangements. This is fault by the
Council.
The Council did not communicate with Miss X effectively or answer her
complaints adequately. If the Council had responded appropriately with a Stage 2
investigation it is possible that the fault and injustice to Miss X would have been
identified sooner.
After my discussions with the Council, it swiftly accepted my jurisdiction over the
complaint and that it is at fault and has caused injustice to Miss X. It said it
“apologised unreservedly” to Miss X for what had happened and was keen to put
things right. It met with Miss X to discuss its proposed remedy. This is good
practice and meant Miss X has been given certainty over her finances without
protracted negotiations.
At the meeting with Miss X, the Council agreed to make a payment of £22,114.86
as back-payment for missed fostering allowances between 2017 and 2020, minus
any tax credits received by Miss X. It also agreed a £322 back payment of holiday
allowance. Finally, it also proposed post-18 support for D, depending on further
discussions with Miss X and D, as well as £500 for Miss X’s time and trouble.
The Council has said it will review all Child Arrangement Orders made since May
2017 to determine if other carers may have experienced detriment and establish
whether there are training deficits. It will also review the circumstances in which
the Council decided not to proceed with Miss X’s request for her complaint to be
considered under Stage 2.

Agreed action
29.

The Council has agreed that within one month of my decision it will:
a) Pay Miss X £22,114.86 as back-payment missed fostering allowances between
2017 and 2020, minus any tax credits received by Miss X;
b) Pay Miss X £322 back-payment for holiday allowance;
c) Pay Miss X £500 reflecting the financial strain arising from the Council’s fault
and for her time and trouble in bringing the complaint;
d) Review all Child Arrangement Orders made since May 2017; and
e) Review its decisions not to proceed with complaint escalation requests since
May 2017.

Final decision
30.

I have completed my investigation with a finding of fault by the Council for which it
has suggested financial remedies and service reviews.
Investigator’s final decision on behalf of the Ombudsman

Final decision

Page 85

4

Agenda Item
14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 86

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 94

